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The Chair (Hon. Judy A. Sgro (Humber River—Black
Creek, Lib.)): I'm calling the meeting to order, pursuant to the or-
der of reference of Thursday, February 6, 2020, Bill C-4, an act to
implement the agreement between Canada, the United States of
America and the United Mexican States.

Welcome to everybody. Welcome to our witnesses. Good morn-
ing to our committee members and a few friends we have visiting
today.

I'll introduce the witnesses. From the Canadian Global Affairs
Institute, we have Colin Robertson. From MLTC Resource Devel-
opment, we have Al Balisky, and from NorSask Forest Products,
Tracey Gorski. From the Réseau québécois sur l'intégration conti-
nentale, we have Claude Vaillancourt and Normand Pépin, and
from Vitalus Nutrition, we have Philip Vanderpol, president and
chief executive officer.

Mr. Vanderpol, would you like to lead off, please?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol (President and Chief Executive Officer,
Vitalus Nutrition): Thank you and good morning, Madam Chair
and committee members. I would like to thank you for the invita-
tion to appear today to discuss the implications of CUSMA on
Canada's dairy industry and on Vitalus specifically.

My name is Phil Vanderpol. I am the president and CEO of Vi-
talus Nutrition, a processor of value-added dairy ingredients.

Founded as a family business over 65 years ago, Vitalus is a
leading producer of high-value, customized dairy ingredients for
the world's food, beverage and nutritional industries. At our ad-
vanced facilities and FSSC 22000-certified processing plants locat-
ed in British Columbia and in Manitoba, we process milk supplied
by Canadian farmers into high-quality cream and butter, milk pro-
tein concentrates, and milk protein isolates that have superior quali-
ty, nutritional value and functionality.

Our products are used in multiple applications, such as nutrition
bars, protein drinks, infant formula, baking, confectionary, dairy
products, snack foods and much more. Vitalus supplies cream and
butter to Canadian markets, and milk protein concentrates and iso-
lates to both domestic markets and over 20 international markets.

In 2018, we expanded our B.C. facility and commissioned a new
plant to produce Vitagos, a high-value prebiotic dairy ingredient al-
so known as galacto-oligosaccharides. Vitagos is used extensively
in infant formula, as well as digestive health products. As one of

only a few plants in the world producing this product, Vitalus is the
first to manufacture this type of product in North America.

Vitalus has a solid reputation and a strong brand recognition in
the B2B marketplace. This is based on our unwavering commit-
ment to quality, efficiency, custom capabilities and customer ser-
vice.

At Vitalus, we've been able to capitalize on the growth in the nu-
tritional value-added global dairy ingredients market. We have
achieved double-digit revenue growth over the past three years,
with the trend expected to continue this year. Our three-year com-
pound annual growth rate on revenue has increased 49% from 2017
through to 2019, and we are forecasting continued growth into
2020.

We have achieved this growth by successfully expanding sales of
our milk protein concentrates and isolates into global markets while
also meeting the growth and demand for butterfat in the Canadian
marketplace. This is evidenced by our export volume results from
2017 to 2019, which I will share with you. We have increased our
export volumes in the last three years by 171% to Europe, thanks,
certainly, in part to CETA; 132% to the U.S. market; 135% to the
Middle Eastern and North African markets; and 65% to Asia. We
have achieved this result by establishing long-term collaborative re-
lationships with multinational food and beverage manufacturers
around the world that value Canadian dairy ingredients.

As the second-largest food processing industry in Canada, the
dairy sector contributes more than $20 billion annually to the coun-
try's economy. With Vitalus's export growth over the past three
years, we are certainly contributing to Canada's achieving its
growth targets in the agri-food sector. Between our two processing
facilities, we employ over 200 highly skilled people, and we remain
a proudly Canadian company.

Dairy processors, including Vitalus, have been motivated to con-
tinue the pattern of growth and move the industry—and Canada—
forward. However, the pending implementation of CUSMA and the
concessions that were made in dairy threaten to curb this growth
and diminish the long-term competitiveness of the sector.
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The Canadian dairy industry is experiencing a processing capaci-
ty shortfall that is expected to increase significantly in the near fu-
ture due to a lack of sufficient investment in milk-drying plants.
With pending plant closures as well, there may also be a decrease in
the drying capacity for skim milk powder. Skim milk powder is
generally produced to deal with the excess solids-not-fat that is pro-
duced as a result of meeting the butterfat demands within the Cana-
dian market.

As you probably are aware, the domestic demand for butterfat
continues to increase, and the lack of skim milk powder drying ca-
pacity already unbalances the system. It will only get worse going
forward. With the implementation of CUSMA, skim milk powder
and milk protein concentrates will be subjected to export volume
caps, as well as an export tax on volumes over the cap, which will
make it financially unfeasible to export.

It is important to note that milk protein concentrates over 85% in
protein level and milk protein isolates are exempt from the export
caps and tax. Building and operating a milk protein isolate plant,
however, is a very costly endeavour with a long-term payback. The
changes in the Canadian dairy processing environment, market de-
mand for high-value dairy ingredients and pending CUSMA ratifi-
cation have prompted the industry to work collaboratively to reach
a solution for continued industry growth and long-term sustainabili-

ty.

Vitalus has been part of the solution dialogue for the past two
years. We strove to find the best solution for the projected excess
solids-not-fat, specifically in western Canada, not just looking at
the short term but looking at a plan that will help for the next 10-
plus years.

We took into consideration the need for a staged volume increase
in milk production to meet the needs of the Canadian market for
butterfat. We also reviewed the geographical and environmental im-
plications, as well as the handling of the by-products. Dairy produc-
ers and processors in western Canada are poised to invest in a long-
term solution to address all the previously mentioned issues. How-
ever, we require tangible commitments from government to pro-
ceed.

We are specifically requesting that CUSMA not come into force
until August 1, 2020. This will provide the industry additional time
to implement the significant changes required to deal with the de-
clining export volume caps placed on dairy. It will also provide the
necessary time for Vitalus to develop additional milk protein isolate
markets, products that are not subject to the export caps and tax.

We also require prioritization of export allocation volumes with-
in the export volume caps to milk protein concentrates. By priori-
tizing milk protein concentrates, we will be able to make the addi-
tional capital investments required to convert skim milk powder
and milk protein concentrate production over a sufficient period of
time into milk protein isolates, which as mentioned previously, are
not subject to export restrictions.

Our stakeholders will require assurances that the ramifications to
the dairy sector have been addressed by this government, that
promised compensation dollars to processors for all recent trade

deals have been finalized and that it will defend our industry going
forward.

Lastly, I want to emphasize that this made-in-Canada solution
benefits the entire dairy industry and will contribute to Canada's
prosperity by safeguarding current and future investments, jobs and
the growth of Canada's dairy processing sector from the negative
impacts of CUSMA.

Thank you for allowing me the time to present to you, and I wel-
come any questions you may have.

® (1010)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Vanderpol.

We'll go by video conference now to the Canadian Global Affairs
Institute and Mr. Robertson.

You're in a much warmer place than Ottawa today.

Mr. Colin Robertson (Vice-President and Fellow, Canadian
Global Affairs Institute): That's true.

Chair, my remarks draw from my previous experience as a for-
eign service officer serving on the team that negotiated the Canada-
United States Free Trade Agreement and the NAFTA, on my post-
ings in New York, as consul general in Los Angeles, as first head of
the advocacy secretariat at our Washington embassy and, more re-
cently, as a member of the trade advisory committee to the deputy
minister of international trade.

I encourage members to pass the legislation implementing the
Canada-U.S.-Mexico agreement. Trade agreements are like riding a
bicycle: Keep cycling and when you hit bumps make adjustments
as necessary, but keep cycling. CUSMA is the best possible agree-
ment under the circumstances. It's not perfect, but for Canada it
both preserves access to our largest market and preserves the North
American platform incorporating Mexico.

The Canada-Mexico story gets scant attention but it's the hidden
treasure of the NAFTA story. Mexico is now our third-largest trad-
ing partner and, as we witnessed, a valuable partner and ally in re-
cent trade negotiations with the Trump administration with not just
the new NAFTA, but in reversing U.S. protectionism through coun-
try of origin labelling.

The new agreement is not perfect. It is freer trade not free trade,
but consider where we started. President Trump claimed it was the
worst deal ever negotiated. Commerce secretary Wilbur Ross said it
was for Mexico and Canada to give, and the United States to get.
The Trump administration thought they had us over a barrel be-
cause we, Mexico and Canada, were much more dependent on the
U.S. than they were on us. We each account for close to 18% of
U.S. exports, while for us the U.S. takes almost 75% of our exports.
For Mexico, it's about 80%.
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Trade generates two-thirds of our GDP, making us the 12th-
largest export economy in the world. For the U.S., trade represents
just 27% of its GDP. Mr. Trump well understood these asymme-
tries.

Despite these disadvantages, we updated the NAFTA with new
chapters on digital trade, intellectual property, labour and the envi-
ronment while keeping dispute settlement and supply management.
At the same time we managed to drown investor-state provisions.
The unjust steel and aluminum tariffs are gone. Our auto trade is
managed trade. It's a bit like that of softwood lumber, but we
should be able to manage this to support jobs and more investment.

Thanks to the Democrats in the House of Representatives, our
gives on patent protection for biologic drugs that would have raised
health care costs for provinces were rolled back. The Democrats al-
so secured better enforcement on environmental and labour provi-
sions, all of which we had sought in the negotiations.

In short, we have a high-quality North American trade agree-
ment, something we sought to obtain through the trans Pacific part-
nership. Instead, we now have an up-to-date Canada-U.S.-Mexico
agreement with the advantage over the U.S. in trans-Pacific and
trans-Atlantic markets through CPTPP and CETA.

This leads me to my recommendations. First, CUSMA is the re-
sult of an all-of-Canada effort involving the Prime Minister, minis-
ters, premiers, parliamentarians and legislators, business and labour
leaders all working with their American counterparts with comple-
mentary messages and purpose. This work must continue and be-
come a permanent campaign. American protectionism is older than
the republic, and it will continue no matter who is president. We
need trade diversification, yes, but we cannot change geography.
That geography gives us access to the biggest and most innovative
market in the world.

Working Capitol Hill daily from my embassy, and through my
experience at my consulates, I learned that just as all politics is lo-
cal so is all trade. While we can't make donations to campaigns, we
can illustrate the jobs that Canadian trade and investment create by
district and by state. We need to keep this data current. Importantly,
you as parliamentarians need to keep reminding Americans of these
facts, and do this through regular meetings with U.S. legislators—
local, state and federal.

There are lots of opportunities, and not just the Canada-U.S. In-
ter-Parliamentary Group but regional conferences of state and na-
tional legislators, important forums like PNWER and NASCO, as
well as the sectoral industry and farm group meetings. First, you
need to be there to develop relationships and to make the case for
Canada. Use your travel points to go to Washington, and I encour-
age you to adjust the rules for travel throughout the United States.
As you will appreciate, nothing is better than a meeting on your
home turf.

Second, with the trade agreement in place there is still unfinished
business when it comes to regulation and infrastructure. The thicket
of national, provincial and local regulations and standards needs to
be harmonized or made complementary. CUSMA helps, but we're
also working on, through separate initiatives launched by the Harp-
er government and Obama administration, regulatory co-operation

and beyond the border. These have been continued by the Trudeau
government and the Trump administration. They continue, but after
the initial burst of enthusiasm, I'm afraid they're now buried within
our bureaucracies. Progress requires political oversight by this
committee, including hearings to identify the roadblocks, raise con-
sciousness and keep government noses to the grindstone. Your con-
stituents will thank you.

® (1015)

People and trade pass through our border points, as well as roads,
rail, hydro and pipelines, bridges and tunnels, airports and rail sta-
tions. They need improvement. Too often they are choke points that
hamper passage and productivity. Canada has an infrastructure pro-
gram, but is it moving fast enough? This should be an area of close
collaboration by all levels of government. Again, parliamentary
oversight of the progress is essential. The U.S. administration and
Congress are already talking about a trillion-dollar infrastructure
program. We need to ensure it is complementary to our efforts, and
because procurement is not part of CUSMA, leave it to governors
and premiers to work out a procurement agreement as we did in
2010.

Harvard's Belfer Center points out that North America is the next
great emerging market, possessing abundant energy, a skilled work-
force, technology and a big market. However, we need infrastruc-
ture.

Meanwhile, we enjoy first-mover advantage of the U.S. with the
European Union and CPTPP nations, but only if we seize these op-
portunities. Our competitiveness depends on our ability to get
goods quickly to market, whether in North America or across our
oceans.

Third, we need to know more about North America, especially
the United States. Diversification is a laudable goal, but for
Canada, when it comes to trade and security, it will always be the
United States and then the rest. Anyone in business will tell you
market intelligence is essential, whether you are buying or selling.
For example, how many of you can tell your constituents how
many of their jobs depend on U.S. investment and trade? We can do
it for the U.S., and the Business Council of Canada has created an
interactive map that can pinpoint jobs by congressional district and
state. Why don't we have one for Canadian constituencies, and why
not include TPP and CETA? People understand why trade matters
to them.
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Given our propinquity and innate understanding of the United
States, why aren't we turning this to our advantage? How many se-
rious centres for the study of the U.S. are there in Canada? How
many Canada research chairs focus on the United States and our
trade? You will be disappointed in the answer.

I encourage you as parliamentarians to pass CUSMA. I encour-
age you to press for investments that serve our national interest.

In conclusion, we always need to keep in mind that Canada's in-
fluence in the world is measured to a large extent by our under-
standing of the United States. By using our knowledge and relation-
ships with Americans, our ability to leverage our influence in
Washington and state capitals makes us a more desirable partner
with the rest of the world, because they also have to do business
with our often-complicated neighbour.

Thank you, Chair.
® (1020)
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Robertson.

We'll go on to Mr. Balisky and Tracey Gorski.

Mr. Al Balisky (President and Chief Executive Officer,
MLTC Resource Development LP): Thank you, Madam Chair
and committee members.

We are in Meadow Lake, Saskatchewan, this morning. We are
going to be representing the softwood lumber lack-of-agreement, as
well as indigenous producers of forest products.

We represent the Meadow Lake Tribal Council, located in north-
west Saskatchewan. We're the only major 100% indigenous-owned
softwood lumber producer in Canada—that is NorSask Forest Prod-
ucts—and we have significant exports to the United States.

We recognize the current agreement. Of course, softwood lumber
is not part of that agreement, but today we are making a representa-
tion that we cannot be forgotten in this process. We are uniquely
important. MLTC's ownership and successful operation of a 150-
million board foot sawmill, which is about a medium-sized sawmill
in a Canadian context, with annual revenues of approximately $60
million, for over 22 years has been a wildly heralded benchmark of
successful indigenous forestry and forest product manufacturing in
Canada and internationally.

NorSask is a survivor. We weathered the multi-year U.S. housing
market collapse in the mid-2000s. It is the only sawmill in
Saskatchewan and through much of Canada that did not shut down
during the period of 2007 to 2012.

We are continuing to be impacted by punitive U.S. tariffs. This
successful forestry icon of stable indigenous economic develop-
ment continues to be threatened by the effects of ongoing trade tar-
iffs imposed by the U.S. on Canadian softwood lumber, which
commenced in December 2017 at a rate of 20.23%. We encourage
the federal government to continue support of the indigenous forest
product manufacturing industry in Canada, and we recognize that
the federal government does have a constitutional mandate to pro-
tect and enhance the economic well-being of indigenous peoples.

Prime Minister Trudeau has indicated that no relationship is
more important to him and to Canada than the one with indigenous

peoples, and that it is time for a renewed, nation-to-nation relation-
ship based on a recognition of rights, respect, co-operation, and
partnership. Of course, this should include support of aboriginal or
indigenous ownership of businesses such as NorSask.

The federal government is uniquely responsible. It is the agent
responsible for resolving lumber wars and negotiating the deals of
managed softwood lumber agreement outcomes on behalf of
Canada. The Canada-U.S. lumber trade arena is dominated and in-
fluenced by the interests of the largest lumber producers in Canada.
Of course, in the last few years, most of these large lumber produc-
ers have strategically expanded operations into the U.S. south. In-
dependent indigenous lumber producers wholly based in Canada,
such as ourselves, end up as collateral damage and are significantly
disadvantaged in these trade wars.

On November 25, 2016, the U.S. Lumber Coalition filed a peti-
tion asking the U.S. Department of Commerce to investigate Cana-
dian softwood lumber shipments with the intent of levying punitive
duties and taxes, and in December 2017, this was implemented.

The parliamentary Standing Committee on International Trade in
2016 recognized in its consultations regarding negotiations around
softwood lumber with the United States that they should include
stakeholders that may have been overlooked in the past, especially
aboriginal stakeholders and small producers.

It is our view that indigenous-owned lumber producers and ex-
porters are disproportionately impacted by any trade action related
to softwood lumber. Small indigenous lumber producers require
special consideration and protection from this trade action.

Briefly, I will provide a few statistics on NorSask. We're 100%
indigenous-owned. We're located in Meadow Lake, Saskatchewan.
The shareholder is the Meadow Lake Tribal Council, representing
nine first nations with a population of about 13,000 members. It's
been 30 years of progressive ownership and economic growth in
the forestry sector. We produce 150 million board feet of premium
softwood lumber each year. Seventy per cent of this is exported to
well-established customers in the midwestern United States. Our fi-
bre source is fully certified to the highest standards in Canada and
internationally, including those of the Forest Stewardship Council.
We are a globally recognized model of a sustainable, indigenous-
owned forestry enterprise.

1 would like to say a few words on employment. Indigenous em-
ployment in Saskatchewan in the forestry sector is the highest in
Canada at 30%, and in northwest Saskatchewan the percentage is
65%. This is a tremendous contribution to the local economy. We
may be small in a Canadian context, but we are very significant re-
gionally. In terms of a model of good outcomes, in terms of indige-
nous forestry, we're the high point in the Canadian landscape.
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Here is a quote from Shane Vermette, our executive director of
the Ministry of Energy and Resources in Saskatchewan. He said,
“Saskatchewan leads Canada, and MLTC leads Saskatchewan, by
far when it comes to indigenous forestry business development, in-
digenous employment in the forestry sector, and percent of annual
allowable cut allocated to indigenous businesses.”

Our markets are into the U.S. We are landlocked. We have very
limited opportunity to get offshore, so the U.S. market is critical for
us. We reiterate the need for a managed outcome to the current
trade dispute.

Some of the issues I'd like to highlight are that the current U.S.
trade action has been miserable for indigenous lumber producers.
Despite weathering prior softwood lumber wars, and in particular
the housing crash, the current softwood lumber trade action by the
U.S. and imposed tariff regime has produced significant hardship
for NorSask Forest Products. NorSask has made deposits related to
these countervail and anti-dumping duties of approximately $11
million in the last three years. It is our desire that these funds be
returned in their entirety to the Meadow Lake Tribal Council as
soon as possible.

Our mid-continent location limits access to offshore markets.
Saskatchewan is far from the Asian markets and we cannot com-
pete with the Alberta and B.C. lumber producers with respect to
these markets. NorSask needs ongoing unfettered access to its U.S.
lumber customer base to maintain operations.

The other issue is the small volume of lumber exported to the
U.S. from indigenous-owned lumber manufacturing facilities in
Canada is clearly not a threat to the U.S. lumber producers and is
not the cause of the current softwood lumber dispute. Indigenous
lumber producers cannot be collateral damage in a dispute aimed at
the larger producers in Canada, who incidentally have also man-
aged to mitigate their situation by purchasing sawmills in the U.S.
south.

Indigenous lumber producers generally are standalone enterpris-
es that lack geographic diversity, business diversification into pulp,
paper and other products, and market options enjoyed by our larger
competitors and peers. NorSask, as an example of the sustained
successful outcome of indigenous business development in the
forestry sector, has required decades of thoughtful nurture and incu-
bation, and this successful investment in economic development
cannot be lost due to these trade actions.

For example, NorSask represents one half of 1% of Canada's
lumber exports to the U.S. We're clearly no harm or threat, yet
we're included in the same bucket that holds the rest of the produc-
ers. A solution to this would be that, in future arrangements with
the U.S., indigenous lumber producers are exempt from tariffs, du-
ties and quota limitations.

The special measures that we ask for are, first, that the federal
government ensure that wholly indigenous lumber producers re-
ceive 100% of their tariff deposits back as soon as possible, which
in our case is $11 million. Any profits generated from operations go
directly back to the nine first nations and are used for housing and
other underfunded aspects of their programs.

Second, we ask that the federal government provide accommoda-
tion to wholly indigenous-owned lumber manufacturing facilities in
Canada that export to the U.S., such that they be excluded or not
subject to duties, tariffs or quotas under any trade action for future
softwood lumber agreements.

Last, we ask that the federal government continue to provide
mechanisms for financial support to assist indigenous softwood
lumber producers, so that they survive these lost revenues caused
by these unfair trade actions.

Thank you, Madam Chair.
® (1030)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll move on to Mr. Vaillancourt.
[Translation]

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt (President, Association québécoise
pour la taxation des transactions financiéres et pour l'action
citoyenne, Réseau québécois sur l'intégration continentale):
Good morning.

The Réseau québécois sur l'intégration continentale (RQIC) is
pleased to have this opportunity to share its point of view on the
Canada—United States—Mexico agreement (CUSMA). My name
is Claude Vaillancourt, and I am president of the Association
québécoise pour la taxation des transactions financiéres et pour l'ac-
tion citoyenne (ATTAC-Québec). Accompanying me is Normand
Pépin, union research advisor at the Centrale des syndicats
démocratiques (CSD).

The RQIC has been in existence since 1985, but took its current
name in 1994. It defines itself as a broad multi-sectoral coalition
bringing together Quebec social organizations from labour and
community groups as well as those involved in international devel-
opment. RQIC member organizations represent more than one mil-
lion people.

RQIC's objectives are: to propose a vision of development that
respects social rights, workers' rights and human rights, and to pro-
mote democracy, participation, respect for the environment and the
elimination of poverty.

In terms of CUSMA, we at RQIC can only be pleased for
Canada about the chapter on foreign investment protection, the in-
famous chapter 11, being removed. It gave companies the right to
sue states for government measures that could harm their profits,
even if those measures were geared toward protecting people and
the environment.

However, we are disappointed with the Canadian government's
attitude in the negotiations, because removing chapter 11 was a re-
quirement of the Trump administration, whereas Canada wanted to
keep the chapter until the last moment. That chapter was nothing
more than a threat to the sovereignty of states.
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That is a strange attitude for a country that, of the three NAFTA
members, was the one that was the most sued—41 suits out of the
85 identified under NAFTA—and whose governments had to aban-
don enacting any public policies for fear of being sued. The delete-
rious effect of this chapter is not just about the millions of dollars to
be paid in the event of a conviction. It is also about the regulatory
chill when governments dare not take action to protect or improve
the lives of their people.

RQIC is also pleased about the removal of the energy proportion-
ality clause, another of its long-standing concerns. This clause
forced Canada to basically never decrease oil exports to the United
States, which of course limited our energy sovereignty, a situation
that is not good for any country.

In addition, RQIC can only celebrate the fact that the general ex-
ception for cultural products has been maintained in the new agree-
ment. This exception ensures that cultural products will not be con-
sidered like other products in CUSMA, and it will enable Canada to
put in place the necessary measures to protect our artists and their
productions.

As for the environmental and labour issues, we have significant
differences of opinion with Minister Freeland. While we agree that
it was essential that those two issues be included in the agreement
as a separate chapter rather than as side agreements with no func-
tional enforcement mechanisms, we need more than that before we
can call this agreement progressive. Minister Freeland was here a
few days ago to state that CUSMA requires signatory parties to
“maintain high levels of environmental protection and robust envi-
ronmental governance.” What we are seeing instead is that CUS-
MA is not doing nearly enough to address climate change. Chap-
ter 24 on the environment mentions some good intentions in this re-
gard, but it remains insufficient and completely inadequate in terms
of responding to the climate emergency in which we find ourselves.
The words “climate change,” “warming” and “emergency” are ac-
tually absent from this chapter. There is no mention of the Paris
agreement. There are no targets and no binding measures against
the major polluters.

CUSMA continues to promote a type of economy based on mas-
sive exports and long routes, which favours major movements of
goods and high consumption of hydrocarbons. There are no mea-
sures to support the energy transition we need. On the contrary, it
will require new regulations that go against the immediate interest
of some corporate polluters. Chapter 28 on “good” regulatory prac-
tices—we will come back to this later—will, in our opinion, have a
deterrent effect that will place heavy constraints on governments
wishing to adopt regulations to protect the environment and allow a
shift to green energy.

® (1035)

Mr. Normand Pépin (Union Advisor, Centrale des syndicats
démocratiques, Réseau québécois sur l'intégration continen-
tale): As for labour, chapter 23, which addresses that topic, seems
to us to be quite incomplete. Once again, we think there are some
interesting good intentions with respect to forced labour, violence
against workers, migrant workers, and discrimination in the work-
place. However, implementing these measures seems very problem-
atic to us.

Two days ago, Minister Freeland again stated that the new agree-
ment, CUSMA, includes ambitious and enforceable labour obliga-
tions to protect workers from discrimination in the workplace, in-
cluding gender-based discrimination. However, the first texts re-
leased on October 1, 2018 stated that each party is supposed to im-
plement policies that protect workers from employment discrimina-
tion based on gender.

A few months later, the final text instead stated that each party
shall implement policies that it considers appropriate to protect
workers. The reference to “policies that protect workers” was
changed to “policies that it considers appropriate to protect workers
against employment discrimination on the basis of sex.” This pro-
tection is now left to the good judgment of each party. The worst
part is that Canada has agreed to allow the United States to shield
its federal agencies' existing policies from this article, even if wa-
tered down.

In addition, it is mentioned that cases of violence against workers
must have an effect on trade or investment between the parties,
which we find difficult to demonstrate and far too restrictive, just
like the entire chapter.

CUSMA also fails to solve the problem of competition between
workers, nor does it put forward concrete measures to improve their
working conditions. Only the auto sector is subject to a target of a
production wage rate of at least $16 U.S. per hour, which is an arbi-
trary choice and clearly insufficient overall.

Finally, we come to the brand new chapter 28 of the new agree-
ment on good regulatory practices, a chapter that was completely
absent from NAFTA and that Minister Freeland did not even men-
tion last Tuesday. While the victory of NAFTA chapter 11 being re-
moved was noted earlier, we must curb our enthusiasm in light of
chapter 28. First of all, the title of the chapter is misleading, since
the practices it highlights are not what they seem.

According to the CUSMA rules, the parties must make public
each year a list of the regulations they plan to implement in the fol-
lowing year, in addition to being required to justify the need for
new regulations and to make public all scientific studies and data
consulted. That is not all. If the parties decide to conduct an impact
assessment of the new regulations, which is strongly recommended,
it should include an explanation of the need for the new regulation
and the problem it is intended to address, a list of all other regulato-
ry or non-regulatory alternatives that could be used to try to address
the problem, a cost-benefit analysis of each of those different sce-
narios, and the reasons why the proposed solution is preferable.
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It gets worse. Article 28.13 requires each party to adopt or main-
tain “procedures or mechanisms to conduct retrospective reviews of
its regulations in order to determine whether modification or repeal
is appropriate”. Article 28.14 requires the parties to provide the op-
portunity for any interested person to submit “to any regulatory au-
thority of the Party written suggestions for the issuance, modifica-
tion, or repeal of a regulation.” As a result, the doors are wide open
for corporate lobbyists to attempt to directly influence those re-
sponsible for enforcing the regulations.

Deregulation is therefore the focus of the chapter on good regula-
tory practices, rather than regulation that could help to better pro-
tect the environment or the people.

Attempting to improve regulations or create new regulations will
become so complicated that the only change left will be deregula-
tion. There will be no need to be able to sue governments in this
context, since discouraging governments from acting at the grass-
roots level is likely to prove just as effective, if not more so. We are
really surprised that a Liberal government would support this type
of provision, which makes any government action suspect in ad-
vance.

Thank you for listening.
[English]
The Chair: Thank you all very much.

We'll move to our members' questions.

Mr. Fast.
Hon. Ed Fast (Abbotsford, CPC): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Thank you to all our witnesses for appearing before us to discuss
what is arguably the most important economic agreement Canada
has with any country around the world. With the United States be-
ing by far our largest trading partner, it's important that we get this
right.

Mr. Vanderpol, thank you for attending and for sharing some of
your concerns about the caps that are being placed on the export of
value-added milk products, milk protein concentrates and isolates.
Is it fair to say that your company is one of the world leaders in de-
veloping innovative new products for which there is a huge market
in the global marketplace?

® (1040)

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Yes, we're one of about half a dozen
companies around the world—and the only one in Canada and
North America—that produces the types of high-quality dairy in-
gredients that we currently produce.

Hon. Ed Fast: Did our Foreign Affairs minister or any of her ne-
gotiators ever consult with you directly on the caps that they ended
up including in the new NAFTA?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: No. In fact, I'm vice-chair of the Dairy
Processors Association of Canada and we met with the minister two
weeks prior to the first release of the text. We were assured at that
time that caps would not be included in the agreement.

Hon. Ed Fast: Are you saying you were misled about these
caps?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Well, we were told they would not be in-
cluded.

Hon. Ed Fast: They are included.
Mr. Philip Vanderpol: They are included.

Hon. Ed Fast: Okay. Could you tell us a little more about the
impact these caps will have on your ability to export to markets
around the world? It's one thing to impose caps on exports to our
trading partner, the United States, but I'm not aware of any free
trade agreement where Canada actually has agreed to cap its ex-
ports to markets beyond the trading partner we're negotiating with.

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: That's our understanding as well. It's un-
precedented that the United States would dictate what trade we do
around the world with an agreement like this, but.... What it does
for Canada is that it really restricts the ability to continue to grow
our market and supply our domestic markets, first of all, with the
products they need.

Typically, as I mentioned, the solids-not-fat are excess, so we
need to export those. Historically, we've been exporting around
70,000 metric tons. When the caps come into place, in year one that
will be reduced to 55,000 tonnes, and then in year two and there-
after 35,000 tonnes. Basically, from current levels, the caps would
reduce our exports by half, which is really devastating for the in-
dustry and the ability to grow going forward.

Hon. Ed Fast: Has anyone in the minister's office justified why
they would have done this? It effectively kneecaps the industry that
you play in.

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: The only response they've given us is
that the alternatives were a lot worse. We are not aware of what
those alternatives were, but we were told they would be worse than
the caps.

Hon. Ed Fast: Really.

You have proposed that CUSMA not come into force until Au-
gust 1, 2020. Is that correct?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: That's correct.

Hon. Ed Fast: Could you explain a bit more how this would
mitigate some of the impacts of these caps?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: The implications for dairy come into ef-
fect three months after ratification of CUSMA, so if it comes in af-
ter May 1, that would be August 1. The caps are based on a dairy
year, which runs from August 1 through to July 31. If CUSMA is
ratified before that date, for year one, as I mentioned, the restriction
is 55,000 tonnes. That would in fact be in effect already now. If it is
not implemented and does not come into force until August 1, at
least we have from August 1 to July 31, 2021, to be able to utilize
the 55,000 tonnes. Otherwise, effective August 1, we immediately
go to the 35,000-tonne restriction.

Hon. Ed Fast: The fix you're proposing is just a short-term fix.
The long-term problem will remain. Is that correct?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: That is correct.
Hon. Ed Fast: All right.
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You've shared with me that you had some very ambitious plans
to expand your company's reach around the world. You have opera-
tions not only on the west coast but also in Winnipeg. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: That's correct.

Hon. Ed Fast: How will this cap impact your willingness to in-
vest in your company and expand your product lines?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Significantly, because first of all we need
assurances that we will receive the compensation that has been
promised to us as processors, in order to be able to invest into the
required infrastructure to produce products that are not subject to
the caps. Second, it takes some time to continue to develop those
value-added markets. Those are the right markets for Canada for
the long term, but they take a significant investment in capital and
time in order to achieve those markets.

® (1045)
Hon. Ed Fast: I'm going to go to Mr. Robertson.

Welcome, Colin. You and I have known each other for a long
time. You made a curious statement. You said that this was the best
agreement under the circumstances.

“Under the circumstances” sound like weasel words. Essentially,
we didn't get a better deal. We didn't get a win-win. We got the best
we could under a Donald Trump. Is that what you were implying
with those words?

Mr. Colin Robertson: Yes, sir.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Fast. Your time is up.
Hon. Ed Fast: Thank you for your honesty.

The Chair: We'll go on to Mr. Dhaliwal.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal (Surrey—Newton, Lib.): Thank you,
Madam Chair, and welcome to all the presenters here.

My first question is for Mr. Vanderpol from beautiful British
Columbia. You mentioned all the issues that you will be facing with
CUSMA, but you only slightly mentioned that you need tangible
support from the government in these circumstances.

Could you please elaborate on what type of support you would
like to see government provide you in future years?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: First of all, as I mentioned, we would
like the implementation of CUSMA to not take effect until August
1. That's the first request.

The second request is that, as dairy processors, we have been
promised compensation based on the previous trade agreements and
CUSMA. We are still awaiting that. The dairy producers have been
promised and have been granted funding. We have not yet. We're
still waiting for that, even though it has been promised. That will
help us invest in making products that will not be subject to the
caps.

Third, we would like to continue to have the support of the gov-
ernment to defend our industry from further erosion and restrictions
born from possible future trade deals.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Okay. Thank you.

My next question is for Mr. Vaillancourt.

Mr. Vaillancourt, as I understand it, by modernizing this agree-
ment, it preserves Canada's cultural exemption, which will give
Canada flexibility to adopt and maintain programs and policies that
support almost 660,000 Canadian jobs in the cultural industry,
which is going to help Quebec and the rest of Canada. Do you
agree with that?

[Translation]

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: Yes, absolutely. The overall protec-
tion of culture, including on the Internet, is a very good thing. But
there must be a follow-up. The Government of Canada really must
take measures to promote Quebec and Canadian artists. Now we
have a tool, and we must use it to promote culture.

[English]

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Thank you.

My next question is for the Canadian Global Affairs Institute. It
is my understanding that you had a conference to discuss aspects of
CUSMA with a range of experts, diplomats and consultants.

Mr. Colin Robertson: Yes, we have an annual trade conference
in Ottawa.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: What were the key messages from that con-
ference about this deal?

Mr. Colin Robertson: The conference was held while the nego-
tiations were still taking place. We've had two, and in each case we
discussed various aspects of the agreement and what Canada should
be seeking. We had participation from the current trade team, in-
cluding people such as Steve Verheul.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Are you satisfied that most of those discus-
sions are implemented in this agreement?

Mr. Colin Robertson: Yes, sir. Trade negotiations are a give-
and-take. Again, as | was saying in response to Mr. Fast, the cir-
cumstances were that the United States came in, and as Mr. Ross,
the commerce secretary, put it quite succinctly, it was for Canada
and Mexico to give and the United States to get. I think we did ex-
tremely well under the circumstances. We preserved that access to
the U.S. market, which is vital, as has been pointed out by other
witnesses, and we were able to add new chapters on labour and the
environment.

It's not a perfect agreement. I would just also point out that we
shouldn't expect a trade agreement to be the be-all and end-all for
anything. We have, after all, the Paris climate accords, which I
think are the appropriate vehicle to deal with climate. We have the
International Labour Organization measures, which we abide by.
Trade agreements should not be seen as the catch-all for everything,
because then they sink.
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Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: My next question goes to NorSask. It is my
understanding that, throughout the negotiations, one of Canada's
objectives for the new NAFTA was to better reflect the interests of
indigenous peoples. It is my understanding that Canada was able to
secure that.

Do you agree with that, or are you aware of that?

Mr. Al Balisky: I have to admit that we're not experts in the in-
ternational trade negotiations, but in our personal experience in the
softwood lumber dispute, we would like to see a little more provi-
sion in there around the protection of indigenous business interests
across the entire spectrum of industry in Canada. As a stand-alone
operation in Canada, we are very negatively impacted. Of course, it
impacts our ability to reinvest and continue this good story in
Saskatchewan.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Dhaliwal.
We'll go on to Mr. Savard-Tremblay.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay (Saint-Hyacinthe—
Bagot, BQ): My thanks to all the witnesses today. It was particular-
ly interesting to hear about the reality of producers and workers in
the softwood lumber sector. It confirms a number of our fears.

As a member of the Bloc Québécois, I will first address my ques-
tions to the representatives from Quebec. It is a pleasure to wel-
come groups from Quebec. Furthermore, I have previously worked
in your network in Quebec. It is a pleasure to have you here today.

You said that chapter 28 on good regulatory practices somewhat
mitigates the beneficial effects of eliminating the previous chap-
ter 11 of NAFTA. In your opinion, it now remains to be seen
whether we are trading four quarters for a dollar, as they say, or
whether there is still some progress despite everything. I guess time
will tell.

As you mentioned, the Minister didn't actually talk about it when
she appeared before the committee. However, I had asked Mr. Ver-
heul, Canada's negotiator. According to him, there was no en-
croachment on sovereignty and, ultimately, it was simply in a spirit
of reciprocity and to avoid any funny business by the U.S.

Can you see any merit in that interpretation?

Mr. Normand Pépin: That is basically it. Governments are there
to make political decisions and we will not question that.

The motivation behind this chapter is that state action is suspi-
cious at its core. It is as if, one morning, a minister decided to im-
pose regulations that make no sense. That is not how things happen
in life.

Furthermore, all the criteria that must be met in order to imple-
ment new regulations or even improve existing ones will discour-
age governments, whether the United States, Canada or Mexico,
from taking action. If you ask me, all three governments are in the
same boat.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Mr. Vaillancourt, do you
have anything to add?

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: Yes. You asked if we were trading
four quarters for a dollar. In our opinion, it may be even worse than
chapter 11, because everything will be done behind closed doors.
We don't really know how things will unfold. Regulations may well
be blocked even before they are put in place. That's the issue. A
government's duty is to adopt regulations in the public interest.

That is our main concern about this chapter, which has not been
sufficiently discussed, even though it is one of the chapters of this
new agreement with the most consequences.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: In the end, you don't see
this as a way to mitigate any potential unfair competition, ensuring
that everything is clear from the beginning and that none of the par-
ties will try to use the rules to their advantage. Is that it?

® (1055)

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: No. In our opinion, this chapter will
contribute to deregulation. However, in light of climate change and
social inequalities, we need regulations that are more robust, but
that are still in the public interest, of course.

There is a lot of talk about harmonization, and we agree that it is
necessary, but it must be upward, not downward.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: That brings me to the is-
sue of the environment, which you have raised. You said that it was
clearly inadequate and that the Paris agreement was not mentioned.
As you know, the U.S. is not a signatory to the Paris agreement ei-
ther. It would have been surprising to see that there.

Is there any sort of mechanism to enforce the regulations? Do
you think this chapter will have enough teeth when it comes to the
environment?

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: No, we don't think so. The answer is
clear. This chapter has no teeth. The fact that climate change, the
current environmental problem, is not mentioned in the agreement
is problematic, in our opinion.

As we have said, that is where chapter 28 can come in. Under the
old chapter 11, the majority of lawsuits were to challenge environ-
mental regulations, and we are afraid that will continue under the
new chapter.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Madam Chair, do I still
have time?

The Chair: You have one minute left.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: My next question is for
the representatives of the softwood lumber industry.

As you know, Quebec has a separate system for softwood lumber
disputes. An auction mechanism is used to set the price of softwood
lumber.
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In your opinion, should this separate system be recognized in the
agreements, since it would avoid the punitive tariffs that have been
applied over time?

[English]

Mr. Al Balisky: I have just a brief comment. Jurisdiction on
Crown forest lands across Canada differs by province. There's ev-
erything from fee simple, through to where in western Canada the
province owns the Crown forest lands. There's a full range of out-
comes, and each jurisdiction has been very effective at trying to ne-
gotiate its own outcome provincially. Unfortunately, the U.S.
doesn't take that approach. It sees Canada as a whole, and injustice
prevails as these crippling duties continue to be a part of our land-
scape.

The Chair: Thank you very much, sir. I'm sorry to have to cut
you off.

We go now to Mr. Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie (ElImwood—Transcona, NDP): Thank you
very much.

I'd like to take up some questions with our visitors from
Saskatchewan. First, I want to thank you for proposing some con-
crete solutions in terms of what governments might seek to put into
trade agreements to help indigenous businesses prosper, but | want
to take a step back. One of the things the NDP has said about this
agreement is that it ought to have recognized the United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. We feel it's im-
portant that a trade agreement not be able to trump Canada's rela-
tionship with indigenous peoples. Whether or not it's in the Consti-
tution, treaty documents are fundamental to Canada. We already
have existing international commitments and international agree-
ments like UNDRIP. My point is that you can't just go off and sign
a trade agreement that is then going to take precedence over all of
those important factors.

I wonder if you have any thoughts on that, or if you've done
some thinking about how to ensure that those fundamental aspects
of Canada and its relationship to its indigenous people are protected
in trade agreements.

Mr. Al Balisky: Certainly, we would completely endorse that
point of view. There is the special relationship and anything that
acts as a deterrent or keeps constraints on any kind of affirmative
action within Canada is a negative outcome. We certainly endorse
that and would encourage anything that would allow for this free,
unfettered approach to Canada's approach with indigenous peoples.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

[Translation]

I would first like to thank the representatives of the Réseau
québécois sur l'intégration continentale for their comments on
chapter 28.

Given the philosophical bias associated with this type of interna-
tional trade agreement, how could we integrate the precautionary
principle into an international trade agreement to ensure that this
principle is included in public policies when they are developed?

® (1100)

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: I think chapter 28, as it is worded, lit-
erally prevents that precautionary principle. This is a major issue in
the negotiations between Canada and the European Union. The Eu-
ropeans want to keep the precautionary principle. They believe that
it is fundamental to protect the health of their people and the envi-
ronment. They believe it is under threat, and the regulatory cooper-
ation chapter bolsters their sense of vulnerability.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Europeans are demonstrating that it is possi-
ble to establish an international trade agreement that includes the
precautionary principle.

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: Yes, it's entirely possible.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: It isn't something that will make it impossi-
ble to trade or create wealth, right?

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: No, it's not a barrier to trade at all.

On the contrary, it puts in place a trade that is much more at the
service of the population and that takes into account factors other
than immediate profit. Both are important. It provides the public
with health and safety. These are fundamental things.

If the precautionary principle is not applied, the damage is often
irreversible, and it is too late to back off. The whole spirit of the
precautionary principle is indeed a fundamental principle that
Canada should support in the fight against it. We know from the
CETA Regulatory Cooperation Forum in Europe that it is fighting
this precautionary principle.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Chapter 28 contains philosophical biases
that have nothing to do with trade. Rather, they have to do with the
special interests of certain businesses or governments.

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: Yes, we completely agree with you
on that analysis.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.
[English]

Mr. Robertson, I wanted to touch a bit more on the buy America
provisions and the importance of procurement. You mentioned
some of the ways in which Canada might consider trying to make
up for what's not in this agreement in terms of access to procure-
ment.

I have New Flyer Industries in my riding, which produces a lot
of buses and sells most of them into the United States. Buy Ameri-
ca has affected jobs in Winnipeg because of the content require-
ments.

I was surprised recently when there was a meeting of governors
and Canadian premiers, and Premier Pallister from Manitoba didn't
go and didn't send anybody on his behalf. It seems to me that the
province-to-state relationship is going to be important for business-
es that export to the U.S. in terms of keeping jobs here in Canada.
Could you speak to that a bit more?
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Mr. Colin Robertson: I think you're correct. Premiers and gov-
ernors, because they're the level where the spending usually takes
place, particularly when it comes to major infrastructure, want best
value, and best value often comes from having a variety of vendors,
not just those in your state or province. Having outside competition
that has equal access will often prevent cartels in your own
province or state, and, therefore, you get far better value for public
money.

This was really the philosophy that was behind.... When I was at
the embassy, we were trying to get a procurement agreement at the
national level. It wasn't working. We since have one through the
World Trade Organization, but when the United States under the
Obama administration was doing their big build as part of the post-
recession effort to recover, we wanted access, as you put it, for
New Flyer and others so we could sell buses and things into the
United States.

We found that the best way to do it was by having premiers go
down and meet with governors. Both saw an advantage. Both of
them were charged with spending monies that came from federal
governments, so they worked out a—

® (1105)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Robertson. I'm sorry to
be cutting you off. You're giving us valuable information but there's
only so much time.

Mr. Vidal.

Mr. Gary Vidal (Desnethé—Missinippi—Churchill River,
CPC): Thank you, Madam Chair.

I want to thank all the witnesses today for taking the time both to
prepare and to come and present today. [ know that's a big commit-
ment for many of you.

I also want to thank my colleagues for allowing me to participate
in this process today, as obviously this is not my committee. It's a
privilege to participate today.

I want to particularly thank you, Mr. Balisky and Ms. Gorski, for
being willing to be here today, as you represent people from my
riding and people from my community.

My question is for either Mr. Balisky or Ms. Gorski.

You spoke quite eloquently about indigenous ownership and the
impact it has on the communities affected by the lack of a softwood
lumber agreement and by the tariffs. I would like you to expand on
the nine ownership first nations and what the impact that $11 mil-
lion in money that has been tied up in tariffs since 2017 might have
on the 13,000 people represented by those nine first nations.

Mr. Al Balisky: Good morning.

This is about nation building. As the honourable member Blaikie
pointed out, this is about building Canada. There should be no
group left behind in this. There's a special group within Canada, the
indigenous community, that is working very hard and very diligent-
ly to create economies, to be part of provincial economies. Trade
action around softwood lumber puts a big wet blanket on all of this.

The impact to the communities is significant. As the big players
in the industry generate profits, so do we, as we can, and those go
directly back to the nine communities that make up the tribal coun-
cil. The impact of these crippling duties is significant: $11 million
represents $11 million that doesn't go back into education, into
health care. Saskatchewan has, unfortunately, been in the news na-
tionally around suicide. Suicide prevention is a big matter. With re-
gard to infrastructure development, housing is always critically un-
derfunded, and there's huge demand on that front. The demands and
the needs are many.

Non-program funding and self-generated funds are critically im-
portant to first nations across Canada. Particularly in the Meadow
Lake area, and with the Meadow Lake Tribal Council, generating
these funds and getting them back to the communities annually is a
significant part of what we do at NorSask. This is part business and
part mission, and we need to have special protection around these
measures.

Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you.

1 also had the privilege of touring your facility in Meadow Lake
not that long ago. [ was very impressed with the investments you've
made in technology and in capital upgrades to that mill to keep you
competitive.

I know there are many sawmills around our country that are clos-
ing because of their inability to be competitive. The lack of a soft-
wood lumber agreement has had a significant impact on that. I
would like you to speak maybe, as well, to the impact this lack of
agreement might have on your ability to reinvest in technology and
capital that allow you to remain competitive and weather the storms
you have weathered for so many years.

Mr. Al Balisky: Clearly, NorSask is a survivor. We've weathered
a whole lot of bad outcomes over the last two decades. Very impor-
tant to us is our ability to stay capitalized. Any kind of trade action
where we have tariffs takes money out of our system. Our ability to
look to the future and invest in a proactive and positive manner is
compromised when we're paying these tariffs. We have to keep up
with the changing technology and stay in the game, and that in-
volves technology enhancements.

We do our very best to make sure we have reinvestment going
back into the mill that keeps us on par with our competitors and
keeps us as a viable part of the Meadow Lake community and a
contributing part of the economy of the Meadow Lake Tribal Coun-
cil first nations.

Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you.

We've talked a lot about the impact on the indigenous community
in northwest Saskatchewan, but you briefly referenced Meadow
Lake in your last response.

1 would like you to also maybe comment on the impact you have
on Meadow Lake and the surrounding community. Meadow Lake is
very much a partner in northwest Saskatchewan with indigenous
communities, but there's a great impact on the small city of Mead-
ow Lake and the surrounding rural municipalities as well.
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The Chair: It will have to be a short response, please.

Mr. Al Balisky: That's very true. We are a forestry-dependent
community. Forestry is a major contributor to the Meadow Lake
economy. Our particular facility contributes 100 direct jobs to the
local community. Of course, 65% of those are indigenous, which is
a wonderful representation of the community. Beyond that, there
are the woodland supports. There are truckers. There are harvesters.
There are various suppliers. The multiplier effect in forestry is far
larger than many other industries, and our ability—

The Chair: Thank you very much, sir. Thank you for your an-
SWer.

We will go on to Ms. Bendayan.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan (Outremont, Lib.): Thank you, Madam
Chair.

[Translation]
Thank you to everyone for being with us today.

I am always delighted to welcome Quebec witnesses to our com-
mittee.

My question is for Mr. Vaillancourt and Mr. Pépin.

I would like to discuss with you the cultural exemptions in the
new agreement. You've already mentioned that the agreement pro-
tects and modernizes the cultural exemption. As you may know,
there was still intense pressure on the minister and our negotiators
to get rid of it completely or to weaken it significantly, but we kept
it.

The cultural exemption protects our artists, as you mentioned,
and preserves our Canadian content. As an MP from Montreal, [ am
particularly proud that our government was able to keep this ex-
emption to protect our Quebec culture. Digital content will now be
able to benefit from these same protections.

I'd like to follow up on a suggestion you made earlier in your tes-
timony. Do you have any ideas about concrete measures we can
take to make the best use of the cultural exemption, particularly to
promote our Quebec artists and our French-language content?

Mr. Claude Vaillancourt: First of all, it is mainly about the rec-
ommendation. On the websites of the major multinational entertain-
ment companies, Canadian and Quebec products are not very visi-
ble. We have to put pressure on them to increase the visibility of
our products.

Second, I think we must continue to subsidize culture. We are a
small market here. This cultural exemption allows us to have more
grants to help artists. This will help maintain the vitality of Quebec
and Canadian culture, which is already exceptional. We could go
further in that direction.

Our third proposal is this: we would like to see greater tax partic-
ipation by the large companies that benefit from the market here,
meaning, a market that consumes their products. However, these
companies pay very little tax. That would be the best contribution
they could make. We need clear, vigorous and firm measures that
go in that direction.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you.

Do you have anything to add, Mr. Pépin?
Mr. Normand Pépin: No, he's the expert.
Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Okay.

[English]

My next question is for Mr. Robertson from the Canadian Global
Affairs Institute.

Thank you very much for your testimony earlier. To follow up on
a question from my colleague the Honourable Ed Fast with respect
to your statement, which I believe was that this is the best agree-
ment possible under the circumstances, would you, having re-
viewed the agreement in its entirety, agree that it is a better agree-
ment overall for Canada than the original NAFTA was?

Mr. Colin Robertson: I think, grosso modo, it updates the origi-
nal NAFTA, which was absolutely necessary. There are parts of it
that are managed trade—and we talked about autos. There are
pieces we would have liked, such as the procurement chapter, for
example, but it wasn't going to work. However, given the circum-
stances, it is the best possible agreement we could have negotiated,
and we are much further ahead with it because it's a kind of crown
jewel. We have the CETA and the CPTPP, but the critical agree-
ment for us is always having access to the United States. Now we
have that security, under a very difficult and sometimes complicat-
ed administration.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you very much for that very po-
litical answer.

You mentioned the lack of statistics or estimates of the number
of jobs in Canada that rely on trade with the United States, but there
are some statistics. I'm thinking particularly of the percentage of
our country's exports that go to the United States. I wonder if you
could speak to that.

® (1115)

Mr. Colin Robertson: We do have statistics but we need...and
you as members of Parliament, when you speak to your con-
stituents, should be able to say, “Look, your jobs...” Again, we
hear from Meadow Lake and we know the importance of trade, but
people want to know specifically what it means. We can do this
now down to the legislative and really the constituency level in the
United States. We have the capacity to do it in Canada, and I think
we should, because all members of Parliament should have access
to those figures. I would include in those the importance of the Eu-
ropean and Asian markets, because, I'd point out, we're the 12th-
largest exporting country.

Most people don't realize how important trade is to our prosperi-
ty. That's what pays for our health care and education. You as mem-
bers of Parliament could be better equipped if you could get the
statistics and make them available. They are readily available be-
cause we have the tools to do that with other countries.

The Chair: Thank you very much. We go now to Mr. Carrie.
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Mr. Colin Carrie (Oshawa, CPC): Thank you very much,
Madam Chair. I'll be splitting my time with Mr. Kram.

I'd like to follow up with Mr. Robertson. We've actually been
asking for the economic impact studies. The Americans, as you
know, put out their economic impact studies last April. The minis-
ter was here saying she couldn't do that, but no one around the table
or in Canada believes she would sign on to an agreement of this im-
portance without having some advice on how this is going to im-
pact Canada economically.

Mr. Pépin, I think, brought up that it's very important that we
have these numbers.

Mr. Vanderpol, I can't believe it. We had a witness yesterday, Mr.
Geist, who's an expert on the IP side of things. He wasn't consulted.
You weren't consulted. It's getting frustrating at this level that the
minister obviously has this advice and she's not releasing it.

Mr. Vanderpol, how important is it to you that you have these
economic impact numbers, as families make business decisions
moving forward and the sector makes these business decisions? Do
you have any economic impact studies you could share with the
committee? We've been asking the minister over and over since De-
cember 12 to release the studies, or if she doesn't have a full study
to release the advice she's been given so that we can make sure the
support and programs are available for the families that are going to
be negatively affected. Do you have anything you could give us?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Thank you for that question.

As an industry, we have some studies, and we have quantified it
by the effects on dollars and jobs. That has been shared with the
minister and the staff.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Could you let the committee have that,
please? We're at such a tight timeline here, and we all want to make
sure that we have this in place, as Mr. Robertson was saying. We
need to have that information and the minister has not been co-op-
erative. It's to a point where some people are saying, “What is she
hiding?”

We don't have that. Could you share that with us, please?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Yes. On behalf of the Dairy Processors
Association of Canada, we can share those studies with you.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Thank you very much.

Go ahead, Mr. Kram.

Mr. Michael Kram (Regina—Wascana, CPC): Thank you to
Mr. Balisky and Ms. Gorski for joining us today from Meadow
Lake, and for sharing your success story of the Meadow Lake Trib-
al Council and NorSask Forest Products.

I am wondering if you could provide some insight as to what you
would like to see in future trade agreements that would help create
employment opportunities for indigenous persons in rural and re-
mote parts of the country.

Mr. Al Balisky: That's a great question. Everything we can do
on that front would be very positive.

Very specifically about softwood lumber, what happens is that
the big broad brush gets applied to the Canadian landscape. The

federal government needs to make sure there's a more finely tuned
approach taken in response. As we've been able to indicate with
some of our charts, the indigenous contribution to the softwood
lumber issue is non-existent. It's critical that we get special protec-
tion, based on some good rationale, and that this be presented in a
very cogent manner to the U.S., making sure that Canada stands up
for the indigenous community when it comes to any sector across
Canada.

It takes so much effort and goodwill to make these things hap-
pen, and it takes stability. With these ups and downs in trade wars
and so forth—changing the agreements—it's critical that we have
that stability built into the system.

® (1120)

Mr. Michael Kram: You mentioned that because northern
Saskatchewan is landlocked, there is little opportunity for you to
export offshore.

Is there anything that can be done with improved infrastructure,
such as rail or highways, that would be beneficial to you in getting
your products to international markets?

Ms. Tracey Gorski (Manager, Sales and Marketing, NorSask
Forest Products LP): Hi. Thank you for that question. I'll try to
answer that.

Our rail line was abandoned many years ago here in Meadow
Lake, Saskatchewan. We had a rail line that served this community
for many years under CN, and then it was sold to OmniTRAX,
which was Carlton Trail Railway.

There are three big manufacturers in Meadow Lake, one is the
pulp mill, the OSB manufacturer and then us. At that time, we all
used the rail line to get our products to market. At this time, we do
not have the capacity. With the rail line abandoned, all of our equip-
ment goes by truck.

When you're looking to hit the offshore markets, say, trucking
from Meadow Lake to B.C. and then loading and getting over to the
Asian market, it's very costly. Because we're one sawmill, we are
limited in regard to being competitive.

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Tracey Gorski: Our market per se may not be as big as, let's
say, a B.C. or Alberta producer.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We will go on to Mr. Badawey.

Mr. Vance Badawey (Niagara Centre, Lib.): Thank you,
Madam Chair.

I appreciate the opportunity to sit on this committee today. As
many know, I chair the Standing Committee on Transport, Infras-
tructure and Communities. The reason I'm here today is the
crossover that this issue and all the trade issues have for both com-
mittees. It's a pleasure to be here and to bring forward some
thoughts on behalf of that committee.
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First off, Madam Chair, I want to preface my comments by stat-
ing that I do anticipate the passing of CUSMA, which will in fact
align with CETA and, of course, the CPTPP. That's what I'm going
to premise my comments on today with the witnesses we have be-
fore us.

There was a mention earlier by Mr. Robertson of the trillion-dol-
lar procurement program that we must embark on. In fact, if
Canada wants to and needs to invest in strategic infrastructure in-
vestments to strengthen our overall international trade performance,
it's imminent that we begin to work with our different committees
here in Parliament, but more importantly with our partners, both in
the public sector—municipal in particular—and in the private sec-
tor.

I will be bringing forward today to committee a few motions that
will align with some of that direction, including a study focusing on
current and anticipated labour shortages throughout the country, in
particular as it relates to the transportation sector; undertaking a
study on Canada's rural digital infrastructure and prospective solu-
tions to the gaps in wireless infrastructure deployment throughout
rural Canada; looking at the gas tax; and, of course, once again, the
need to work with our municipal and private sector partners, as well
as our indigenous communities, to put in place strategic invest-
ments that align with our trade agreements such as CUSMA, CETA
and the CPTPP.

I want to ask a question that is primarily for Mr. Robertson of the
Canadian Global Affairs Institute.

With respect to your comment on the trillion-dollar procurement
program, I'll throw a question out there for you. I'm going to stop
talking and allow you to comment on what I've just talked about
and the importance of same. How important is it for Canada, as a
nation, to work binationally in establishing our procurement and, of
course, the strategic infrastructure investments that will align with
and complement the trade agreements we have in place?

Mr. Colin Robertson: I think it's vitally important. When we ex-
port, [Technical difficulty—Editor] which port it's going to go to.
Sometimes from Saskatchewan it goes through the United States
and out through Portland and Seattle, whereas American goods
sometimes will come up to Canada. Integrating those, that infras-
tructure, as I said in my remarks, is vital, especially as the United
States appears to be, probably in the next administration—whether
Democrat or Republican and working with Congress—prepared to
put in really big money. I mentioned trillions of dollars. In fact, it
could come to a couple of trillion dollars.

We need to be a piece of that, both in the access to it in terms of
procurement but also in linking up rail, road and air. Again, it's that
North American capacity we have to become the truly competitive
platform for the world. We now have the pieces in place, but we
need the infrastructure. I would applaud what you and your com-
mittee are doing and your suggestions on how we can move for-
ward, and I encourage you to talk with your American counterparts,
because what really will make this happen is legislator talking to
legislator.

® (1125)

Mr. Vance Badawey: If I may, Madam Chair, I think that discus-
sion has to continue, not only across standing committees here in

Parliament but also across borders. Once again, [ would be very in-
terested to hear, in moving the yardsticks down the field to get our-
selves to that goal line, what thoughts you and many witnesses have
on those issues and also on what those strategic investments should
be.

I'll ask a question. With respect to, as you mentioned, rail, road,
air and water, of course in my riding in Niagara we have the Great
Lakes, which are binational. With the trade that's going to be com-
ing in from and out of the Midwest—a lot of it—especially in re-
gard to going over to the EU and other diversified areas versus just
the United States, we're recognizing that the Great Lakes, and of
course the St. Lawrence Seaway and the Welland Canal, will be
used a lot.

What investments do you see with respect to binational invest-
ments, infrastructure investments among the rail, the water, the air
and the roads, between both Canada and the U.S., as well as inter-
nationally?

The Chair: I'm sorry, but I have to interrupt.

Mr. Robertson, could you give us a short answer? My apologies,
but just a short answer, please, because you have 20 seconds re-
maining.

Mr. Colin Robertson: Okay. I'll just say that NASCO, which is
tri-country, has come up with a whole series of excellent recom-
mendations, which I would refer to your committee.

Mr. Vance Badawey: Thank you, Madam Chair.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

We go now to Mr. Savard-Tremblay for two minutes.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: How can I say something
intelligent in two minutes? When I was teaching and improvising,
three hours was often not enough.

I'll come back to the representatives of the Réseau québécois sur
l'intégration continentale.

Mr. Pépin, you said that there are provisions on working condi-
tions in the automobile industry, but that for the rest there are few
or no provisions, apart from intentions. Have I summarized your
statement correctly?

Mr. Normand Pépin: Yes, that sums it up very well. In addition,
intentions regarding protection against discrimination in the work-
place were watered down at the last minute.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: With jobs comes indus-
try. What do you think of the rules of origin provisions in this
agreement, if you've studied them, of course?

Mr. Normand Pépin: There are the rules of origin and the prob-
lem related to the aluminum industry, which you have raised here
several times. That industry does not have the same protection as
the steel industry, no matter what the government says. There is no
protection for cast aluminum. It only has to have been processed to
some degree in North America for it to pass the test, which is very
insufficient to protect jobs and future investments in this industry,
particularly in the Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean region.
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Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: You assess that this may
be problematic for jobs and the expansion of aluminum smelters. Is
that correct?

Mr. Normand Pépin: That's what the unions in this sector are
saying, and I have complete confidence in their assessment.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Beyond your involve-
ment in the network, you work in the union environment, if I'm not
mistaken.

Mr. Normand Pépin: That's right. I work at the Centrale des
syndicats démocratiques. We don't have aluminum workers, but we
know them.

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: It's a small community,
after all.

Mr. Normand Pépin: Yes, that's it.
[English]
The Chair: Thank you very much. That's it.

Mr. Blaikie.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

Mr. Vanderpol, I have two questions in two minutes. First, given
the issue around August 1 and the dairy year, do you think that if
the ratification is completed prior to August 1 or the agreement is
implemented prior to August 1, it will have enough impact on your
industry to justify an additional compensation package based on the
impact of the time that the deal is ratified?

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Definitely, we have, in fact, calculated
what we think that cost will be.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Okay. We heard yesterday from the team-
sters. They're of the view that given the targeted impact of this deal
on the dairy sector, not only the producers and processors will be
affected but also a lot of workers who work in those plants.
Whether it's with regard to pension bridging or assistance for re-
training and job search, they should be considered in that compen-
sation package as well. Would you be supportive of that?

® (1130)

Mr. Philip Vanderpol: Yes, definitely. The workers, the ancil-
lary workers, the transporters and so on, are all affected by this.
There will be wide effects. Just directly in our industry we employ
over 220,000 people, so they'll all be affected by this.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you to all of the witnesses. I apologize for
having to cut people off occasionally, but the members are all on a
timeline. My job is to make sure that everybody gets their fair share
of time.

Thank you all very much. It was a very interesting panel.

We'll suspend for five minutes.

® (1130) (Pause)

® (1140)

The Chair: We are resuming debate and discussion. We are fol-
lowing up, pursuant to the order of reference of Thursday, February

6, on Bill C-4, an act to implement the agreement between Canada,
the United States of America and the United Mexican States.

With us in this segment, on our panel, as individuals, we have
Leo Blydorp and Lawrence Herman. From the Assembly of First
Nations, we have Judy Whiteduck, director, economic sector, and
Risa Schwartz, legal counsel. From the Canadian Manufacturers &
Exporters, we have Matthew Poirier, director of policy, and Alan
Arcand, chief economist, and from the Federation of Canadian Mu-
nicipalities, we have the mayor of Windsor, Drew Dilkens.

We will open up our panel for discussion beginning with the Fed-
eration of Canadian Municipalities.

Mr. Dilkens, you may go first.

Mr. Drew Dilkens (Mayor, City of Windsor, and Member, Big
City Mayors' Caucus, Federation of Canadian Municipalities):
Thank you very much.

Good afternoon, Madam Chair, Parliamentary Secretary Ben-
dayan and members of the Standing Committee on International
Trade. As I sit in my office right now at Windsor City Hall, what
you can't quite see—you'll have to trust me, and you can pull up
your Google Maps—is that about one and a half kilometres out the
window behind me is the city of Detroit and the United States.

I want to thank you, because I think it's appropriate to have this
opportunity to provide some comments on Bill C-4, the Canada,
U.S., Mexico agreement implementation act.

Now I don't need to tell anyone in the room that Canada is a trad-
ing nation, that our prosperity, growth and success are largely re-
liant on our ability to trade with other countries. I'm the mayor of
the City of Windsor and also a member of the FCM Big City May-
ors' Caucus. My community is home to 240,000 people, and we are
set in a region of nearly 400,000 people. Our city is the largest bor-
der city in Canada. The local economy is intricately tied to that of
Detroit, Michigan, and the United States.

We are home to the busiest commercial border crossing between
the United States and Canada. In fact, the Windsor-Detroit border
crossings handle more than one-third of all Canada-U.S. land trade
over four points of entry: the Ambassador Bridge, the Detroit-
Windsor Tunnel, the CP Rail tunnel and the Windsor-Detroit Truck

Ferry.

The importance of trade with the United States to this area is fur-
ther punctuated by the fact that one of our nation's largest infras-
tructure projects is under way, that being the construction of the
Gordie Howe bridge linking Windsor and Detroit, Canada and the
United States. This project has survived the test of time through
four Canadian prime ministers and four U.S. presidents, represent-
ing Democratic, Republican, Liberal and Conservative parties. It
has made it this far because smart people on both sides of the bor-
der understand the value of smooth and efficient border crossings
and the value of trade for our economies and what it means for
jobs. Nowhere is the value of secure, efficient and safe movement
of goods and people so important than to the Windsor-Essex area,
likely more so than anywhere else in Canada.
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Windsor is proud to be the automotive capital of Canada and
home to the largest cluster of tool, die and mould-makers in North
America. Our two largest private employers are the Fiat Chrysler
assembly plant, home to the Dodge Grand Caravan and Chrysler
Pacifica, and the Ford Motor Company, which operates two engine
plants locally.

Windsor-Essex is also home to the largest auto cluster in North
America, with more than 300 local companies engaging in engi-
neering, designing and manufacturing of cutting-edge industrial
systems and products for clients across the globe. This is an indus-
try that supports thousands of well-paying, highly skilled jobs, and
one that comprises 30% of our regional GDP.

The auto sector is vital to the economy of Windsor-Essex, but it's
also vital to the overall economy of Canada as well as various re-
gional economies throughout the United States. Our local supply
chains are still tightly integrated. Based on geography, businesses
are able to take advantage of the best elements that all three coun-
tries have to offer. There is no better example that I can think of
than this: Parts put into a car produced in Canada cross the border
an average of seven times before that car rolls off the end of the
production line. That, I think, is a great example of how tightly in-
tegrated our economies are.

The amendments to the new Canada-United States-Mexico
agreement will help strengthen and protect well-paying jobs and
will help our companies stay highly competitive in a global econo-
my. That's truly how our employers compete, on a global basis. The
agreement's updated rules of origin, increasing the regional value
content threshold for cars up to 75% from 62.5% ensures that a
higher majority of car parts, such as engines and transmissions, for
example, originate in North America, in cities like mine.

The new agreement also introduces new requirements to help en-
sure that at least 70% of a producer's steel and aluminum products
originate in North America. This agreement has the potential to
generate increased automotive production in North America, of
course, including cities and areas like Windsor-Essex, as well as ad-
ditional sourcing opportunities for Canadian parts producers, many
of which have local footprints in Canada.

I'm not going to sit here and tell you that this new agreement is
perfect. It's not. Future revisions to trilateral trade agreements with
Mexico and the United States should strongly consider better
labour mobility for highly skilled workers, so that positions like
robotic technicians, machine learning specialists and other new
economy workers can seamlessly travel within the trade zone to
meet the changing demands of employers as they and our
economies evolve. The 8,000 people from my city who cross the
border every day into the United States to work understand how
important mobility is for their livelihoods and for that of their em-
ployers.

There's an old axiom taught in many law schools that says the
best agreement is usually the one that leaves each party thinking
they could have done a little bit better. There's no doubt that is the
case in this negotiation and revision to our trade agreement. How-
ever, the incremental improvements achieved through the process
far outweigh any negative aspects.

® (1145)

Political and economic environments juxtaposed with the bene-
fits of this bill lead me to offer my full support to the federal gov-
ernment. On behalf of the people in Windsor—Essex, I encourage
Parliament to move quickly to ratify this deal. I personally thank
Minister Freeland for her efforts on behalf of all Canadians.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mayor Dilkens.

We'll go to Mr. Herman.

[Translation]

Mr. Lawrence Herman (Counsel, Herman and Associates, As
an Individual): Thank you, Madam Chair.

[English]

I prepared a memorandum. I don't know whether it's been circu-
lated to the committee.

I'm going to just summarize what I've said in the memorandum,
and I hope that we can have an exchange during the question-and-
answer period.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Herman. It has been dis-
tributed to the committee members.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: Thank you. I won't go through the pa-
per in any detail. I'll just summarize some points.

Bill C-4 is an implementation measure. It adjusts Canadian laws
to bring those laws into conformity with the agreement, with CUS-
MA, and it needs parliamentary approval, obviously, to make those
changes to Canadian statutes. Those changes set out in the bill will
allow Canada to ratify the treaty.

It's important to understand that the conclusion of treaties and
their ratification is an executive act. It doesn't legally require parlia-
mentary approval for the Government of Canada to ratify an agree-
ment, but the policy for many years has been to submit major
agreements, trade agreements in particular, to Parliament for parlia-
mentary approval. Of course, before Canada can ratify any agree-
ment, whether it's a trade agreement or otherwise, Canadian laws
have to be brought into line with the provisions of the agreement. If
Canada were to ratify an agreement and Canadian laws had not
been made consistent with the agreement, Canada would be, as a
country, as a state, in breach of its obligations under the agreement.
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Let's come to Bill C-4. I want to give you a bit more context
about Bill C-4. There is nothing that I could see in Bill C-4 that is
in any way inconsistent with the provisions of CUSMA. I have to
say—and I think this is important in terms of context—that CUS-
MA is a done deal. The negotiations are over. This committee is not
being charged with renegotiating or proposing renegotiating the
CUSMA. It is done. The U.S. has ratified it. Mexico has ratified it.
It is now Canada's turn to ratify the agreement. That requires that
Canadian laws be changed and adjusted in some respects. In some
cases, it's a matter of tinkering, but in some respects, Canadian laws
and statutes have to be changed. That's what Bill C-4 does.

This committee, it seems to me, has three options.

It can approve Bill C-4, possibly with some minor tinkering here
and there. I don't think there's much that needs to be done in that
regard, if anything. It can approve the bill as presented.

The second option would be to propose amendments to Bill C-4
with or without a recommendation that the treaty be approved. It
could radically amend Bill C-4 to change its contents, making them
inconsistent with what Canada has agreed to in CUSMA.

Third, it could refuse to approve Bill C-4 and refuse to recom-
mend Canadian approval of CUSMA.

The latter two options or scenarios would mean that Canada
could not ratify the agreement. This would be, in my view, an enor-
mous setback for the country, and in fact would be without prece-
dent. There has never been an instance in Canadian history where
Parliament has refused to approve a trade agreement and to pass the
necessary legislation. We know that in 1987-88 the original
Canada-U.S. Free Trade Agreement was held up in the Senate after
it had passed the House. An election was held and we know the
consequences. A Conservative government was returned with a ma-
jority and the House subsequently passed the necessary implement-
ing legislation.

In the case of the NAFTA, before it was presented to the trade
committee or indeed tabled in the House, there were changes made
to the NAFTA as renegotiated, because Canada, the U.S. and Mexi-
co agreed that it would be necessary to add side letters to the nego-
tiated text of the agreement. The NAFTA implementing bill was
tabled in the House and was approved.

® (1150)

Canadian implementing legislation in other areas has been ap-
proved by the House. The European Trade Agreement—the
CETA—and the trans-Pacific trade agreement have both been ap-
proved by the House. If any one of the negative scenarios that I out-
lined were to be proposed and approved by the House as a whole, 1
think the consequences would be disastrous. It would mean that the
U.S. and Mexico would have ratified CUSMA, Canada would not
have and, I assume, that Mexico and the U.S. would go ahead with
the implementation and all of the other matters under the agree-
ment. Canada would not be a party to that agreement. It would
complicate things enormously in terms of supply lines and other
matters. More than that, it would set back Canada-U.S. relations in
a major way.

If this agreement, as I said—negotiated, signed, approved and
ratified by the U.S. and Mexico—were turned down by Canada,
legally, at least initially, the NAFTA would then remain in force as
is between Canada and the United States. There would be serious
doubts about whether the NAFTA would be continued by this par-
ticular administration under that scenario. The future of the NAFTA
itself would be extremely uncertain.

The question then before this committee is what the conse-
quences for Canada would be if Parliament, by following through
with any such recommendation by this committee, were to refuse to
approve the CUSMA and pass the necessary implementing legisla-
tion. That is the issue that you're faced with.

I know that in previous deliberations of this committee, sugges-
tions have been made to reopen the NAFTA because one or another
interest group is not happy with certain of its provisions. That is
frankly a non-starter. The United States and Mexico, but particular-
ly the United States, will not agree to reopen this agreement. It has
passed the U.S. Congress. It's been ratified by the President, and the
suggestion that Canada could go back to the U.S. government and
say that it wanted to reopen this agreement is frankly a fantasy. It
will not happen. Even if it did in the remotest of possibilities, even
if the United States and Mexico were prepared to reopen the CUS-
MA because of Canada's insistence, we would have to look at start-
ing negotiations again, going through all of the process of negotiat-
ing and putting on the table our starting position, and being pre-
pared to make compromises, because, as Mr. Verheul said in his
testimony, trade negotiations are questions of balancing conces-
sions. Canada would have to put its starting bid on the table and be
prepared to make concessions. This is, to me, the most unrealistic
of scenarios.

® (1155)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Herman. You have my
apologies for cutting you off.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: That's fine.

The Chair: The committee has many questions for you.

We go now to Mr. Blydorp.

Mr. Leo Blydorp (As an Individual): It's still morning, so good
morning.

It's Leo Blydorp here. I'm a farmer in Dufferin County, Ontario,
which is around Orangeville. I started farming there in about 1995
and had a prior career in agriculture chemicals. I started off at about
250 acres and worked myself up to about 1,300 acres. I farm with
my son and we have a number of part-time employees. I grow a
number of crops that are covered by the agreement: canola, corn,
oats, soybeans, winter wheat, hay and straw, and I have grown bar-
ley, white beans and quinoa in the past.

As far as the trade deal is concerned, there is really no change
from NAFTA. Nothing has really changed for me. I'm a proponent
of free trade, so we could go home from here, but it's been my ex-
perience that trade is never quite that simple, and it's never free, or
fair or equal in my point of view. I want to spend some time going
into that, if [ might.
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Just recently we've had this trade tiff with China—or the U.S.
has—and we've gotten caught up in the crossfire, so [ want to spend
a little bit of time on that.

The U.S. has offered trade-distorting domestic support to their
farmers, which our government hasn't seen fit to match. After the
U.S. launched the trade war with China, retaliatory Chinese tariffs
were introduced in June 2018, which saw the price of soybeans
drop about 10% on the Chicago Board of Trade.

The Chicago Board of Trade also determines all of our prices in
Canada, so most of the commodities, other than canola and barley,
are traded on that exchange. Canola, which is a bit linked to soy-
beans because it's an interchangeable commodity for vegetable oil
and for meal, dropped about 5%, but then it dropped about another
5% when we detained the Huawei executive Meng Wanzhou. Es-
sentially, China stopped buying all of our canola. China was the
biggest customer of canola. Most of the canola is grown in western
Canada, but we do grow some canola in the area where I farm in
Ontario.

The U.S. responded to the Chinese tariffs on agriculture prod-
ucts—primarily soybeans—in 2018 by introducing the USDA mar-
ket facilitation program, or MFP. That gave U.S. farmers $12 bil-
lion in 2018 and $16 billion in 2019. I'm just quoting here from the
fact sheet:

The [2018 MFP] provides direct payments to help...producers who have been di-

rectly impacted by illegal retaliatory tariffs, resulting in the loss of traditional
exports....

The initial MFP rates are as follows:
...Corn $0.01 per bushel
...Soybeans $1.65 per bushel

Therefore, about 95% of that money went to soybean growers,
and there was also a little that went to wheat. These are all crops
that trade freely across the border and compete with what I'm trying
to produce here in Ontario.

We have been impacted equally by this damage that was a result
of the trade war between the U.S. and China, and we have not got-
ten any government support.

Then, for 2019, they changed the program a little bit, because I
think they had some concerns about how different trade partners
might react to it. They made it more or less directly linked to the
specific crop. They changed it a fair bit to make it county-specific,
but in the end, the average farmer in Illinois got another $21 an acre
than he did in the previous year. That was cited in a weekly farm
economics Gardner policy series, a paper that was authored by the
University of Illinois and the Ohio State University.

What does that mean for me in Ontario? We grew 284.5 acres of
soybeans in 2018 and had a production of 16,040 bushels. If you
convert $1.65 U.S., that comes out to $2.20 Canadian. If you multi-
ply that by 16,040 bushels, that was just over $35,000 that I didn't
get that my American competitors did get. For corn, I would have
gotten a little, $294, and for soft red winter wheat I would have got-
ten just over $3,000, for a total of $38,700 that I'm behind my U.S.
competitor. In 2019, if I apply the same ratios, I would have
had $51,580 out of that program if I'd had an address in Michigan.

During this time, there are considerable U.S. soybeans that come
right into Ontario and are processed and exported through Hamil-
ton, displacing Ontario soybeans. To date, our federal government
has done nothing that I'm aware of to address this disparity in crop
farmer support between Canada and the U.S., while it has paid
compensation to other agriculture sectors.

® (1200

Dairy farmers, for example, have been allocated $1.75 billion for
trade injury that has not yet occurred and may not occur, or if it
does occur, may be impossible to measure. That's from Agriweek,
Canada's agribusiness authority since 1967. I don't have anything
against dairy farmers, but I think farmers need to be treated equi-
tably when there are trade issues.

I sat on a government committee for three years. I had the oppor-
tunity to travel to Ottawa about three times a year in 2015, 2016
and 2017. I was a federally appointed producer representative to the
national program advisory committee. We met to discuss Canadian
agriculture partnership programs. Much of the time was spent dis-
cussing business risk management programs, AgriStability in par-
ticular. This was largely an exercise in frustration for many of us
producer representatives, as our input was never considered or im-
plemented. AgriStability was changed in 2013. It became a much
less useful program for stabilizing farm income, as the reference
margin that triggered payment was reduced from 85% to 70%.
Changes were also made on the eligible expenses used in the calcu-
lation, with a cap on certain expenses. Hence, many growers
dropped out of AgriStability, as did I at the recommendation of my
accountant.

The response from Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada staff was
that our proposals would not pass the scrutiny of countervail and
were likely to be classified as amber domestic support programs. |
haven't seen any discussion at all from the federal government, or
even from the provincial government, about whether the support of-
fered in 2018 and 2019 by the American government in the USDA
facilitation program would in fact be countervailable—I certainly
think that 2018, because it was very specific and very regional,
would be countervailable—or whether it would fall in any of the
boxes that are amber, blue or green.

If we're going to have free trade, we need a government that will
take a proactive approach in monitoring the domestic support pro-
grams of other CUSMA countries and determine both their impact
on market price in Canada and their ability to distort trade. As an
individual farmer I do not have the resources to do this or the ex-
pertise. I spent about a day trying to get ready for this. I don't know
much about trade. ['ve just told you everything I know.
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In terms of competitiveness, many of these things continue to
creep on us. I'll harp on one more, now that I have the floor. I prob-
ably have a few minutes left.

The Chair: You have one and a half minutes left.
Mr. Leo Blydorp: I think we can do it.

A myriad of other factors are affecting the competitiveness of
Canadian farmers. These include the cost of production inputs,
farm equipment, interest rates and labour. The recently introduced
carbon tax raises costs to Canadian farmers and not our competi-
tors. It adds to our cost of drying grain. For example, 2019 was a
terrible year because we couldn't get any grain off dry. It adds to the
cost of nitrogen fertilizer manufacturing, custom trucking and rail
transportation. It is unlikely that the tax will alter consumption of
these uses, but it does decrease the competitiveness of Canadian
farmers, who can't pass on this added cost to their customers.

If we're so interested in carbon, why isn't there an offset that
would pay farmers to sequester carbon if their farming practices in-
deed do that?

With that, I will end. Hopefully, I'm within my time.
® (1205)
The Chair: You are, sir. Thank you very much.

We'll move on to the Assembly of First Nations. Ms. Whiteduck
is director of the economic sector and Risa Schwartz is legal coun-
sel.

Welcome. We're glad to have you here today.

Ms. Judy Whiteduck (Director, Safe, Secure and Sustainable
Communities, Assembly of First Nations): [Witness spoke in Al-
gonquin as follows:]

Meegwetch. Kwey Kakina. Nidonjaba Kitigan Zibi Algonquin
Aki. Nindijinikaz Judy Whiteduck.

[Algonquin text translated as follows.]

Thank you. Hello everyone. I come from Maniwaki; my name is
Judy Whiteduck.

[English]

I wanted to acknowledge all of you, myself and the territory be-
fore we begin. We have a brief set of remarks that we'll share,
which I will start with.

Thank you, first of all, for the invitation to the national chief of
the Assembly of First Nations to appear before your committee to
inform the study of Bill C-4. The national chief has sent his regrets
due to other commitments, and we are pleased to be here on his be-
half.

My name is Judy Whiteduck, and I am the director of the eco-
nomic sector. I am joined by Risa Schwartz, our legal counsel on
international trade matters.

The AFN is a national organization advocating for first nations
citizens in Canada, which includes more than 900,000 first nations
people, both living on reserves and in towns and urban centres.

First nations leaders direct the work of the Assembly of First Na-
tions through resolutions passed at chiefs' assemblies. In 2019, the
AFN passed resolution 37/2019, which was continued advocacy on
Canada's international trade agreements to achieve economic recon-
ciliation. It urged greater participation of first nations in interna-
tional trade negotiations, and called upon Canada to include a trade
and indigenous peoples chapter in future international trade agree-
ments. The AFN has a specific chiefs committee on economic de-
velopment, which includes first nations trade relations.

In 2017, the national chief was welcomed by Deputy Prime Min-
ister Chrystia Freeland to be a member of the NAFTA council. At
an official level, Risa Schwartz and I also participate on the indige-
nous working group on international trade for the Canada-United
States- Mexico agreement. While there is more to do, this work has
resulted in the most inclusive international agreement for indige-
nous peoples to date.

I will now ask Risa to provide additional comments on CUSMA
and to make a recommendation for an amendment to Bill C-4 as
well.

Thank you.

Ms. Risa Schwartz (Legal Counsel, Assembly of First Na-
tions): Thank you, Judy.

With the ratification of CUSMA, Canada, working together with
first nations, will be taking steps to make international trade more
inclusive and more equitable for indigenous peoples, especially for
indigenous women.

CUSMA didn't ultimately include a trade and indigenous peoples
chapter, but the text of the final agreement mainstreamed many im-
portant provisions for first nations. CUSMA maintains Canada's
traditional reservations, exceptions and exclusions in the areas of
services, investment, environment and state-owned enterprises. It
continues the WTO agreement on procurement carve-outs for in-
digenous businesses. It contains provisions that recognize the im-
portant role that indigenous peoples play in conserving the environ-
ment.

There is a new emphasis in CUSMA on co-operation activities to
promote and enhance opportunities for indigenous businesses in the
chapter on small and medium-sized enterprises. Indigenous peoples
are the youngest and fastest-growing demographic in Canada, and
opportunities for indigenous business means opportunities for
women and for youth. There is a new provision in CUSMA for
handcrafted indigenous textiles and apparel goods, which are now
eligible for duty-free treatment.

Also, importantly, for the first time in a Canadian trade agree-
ment, CUSMA includes protections for inherent and treaty rights
through a new general exception in article 32.5, “Indigenous Peo-
ples Rights”. The general exception clause is much stronger than
we have seen in other agreements. This new exception clause cov-
ers the entire agreement and applies to indigenous peoples in all
three CUSMA countries. It will allow all three states to take action
to fulfill their legal obligations to indigenous peoples.
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As well, we'd like to note that the investor-state dispute settle-
ment will be phased out as between the United States and Canada.
ISDS is a threat to indigenous peoples' rights. All these matters are
groundwork for positive change.

Once CUSMA is ratified, we must work together to realize eco-
nomic gains and to ensure these provisions are implemented in a
manner that provides for greater economic equity for first nations.
We note that the mandate letter for the Minister of Public Services
and Procurement includes that “at least 5% of federal contracts
awarded” must be “to businesses managed and led by indigenous
peoples”.

This commitment needs to be monitored by each federal depart-
ment and reported upon to cabinet on an annual basis to ensure the
target is being met. Progress in meeting the 5% target should also
be published by the Government of Canada for transparency.

While CUSMA is an example of the difference it makes to en-
gage with indigenous peoples at an early stage, there must be in-
creased opportunities for first nations to participate directly in inter-
national trade negotiations, consistent with the United Nations Dec-
laration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

The Assembly of First Nations will continue to advocate that
Canada move beyond engagement and invite first nations to the ne-
gotiation table; include trade and indigenous peoples chapters in all
new or modernized international trade agreements; explicitly ac-
knowledge the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indige-
nous Peoples in international trade and investment agreements; and
ensure that a general exception to protect indigenous people's
rights, such as the one in CUSMA, is a red-line item for negotiation
agreements. Like New Zealand, Canada must commit to protecting
indigenous rights in international trade agreements. This is not a
matter that should be up for negotiation.

As well, we ask that Canada halt the negotiation of new ISDS
provisions in new international trade and investment agreements
and remove ISDS provisions when older agreements are being
modernized.

Finally, we ask Canada to invest in programs and services need-
ed for first nations trade networks and inter-nation trade so that ad-
ditional capacity can be established in first nations trade policy and
programs and services. We are also here today to recommend an
amendment to Bill C-4. The bill is missing a non-derogation clause.
The non-derogation clause amendment was proposed previously by
the national chief when he appeared before this committee during
the study for Bill C-100.

All implementing legislation for international agreements that
have the potential to impact inherent and treaty rights must include
a non-derogation clause. It is not just the international trade and in-
vestment agreements that can impact inherent and treaty rights, but
also how the agreement is implemented through domestic regulato-
ry and policy matters. A non-derogation clause will clarify that the
act and CUSMA shall be construed so as to uphold existing aborig-
inal and treaty rights recognized and affirmed in our Constitution.

® (1210)

Chi-meegwetch for the opportunity today to present to the Stand-
ing Committee on International Trade.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We move on to the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, to
Matthew Poirier, director of policy, and Alan Arcand, chief
economist.

Mr. Matthew Poirier (Director of Policy, Canadian Manufac-
turers & Exporters): Thank you, Madam Chair. Good afternoon
to everyone.

It is my pleasure to be here on behalf of Canada's 90,000 manu-
facturers and exporters and our association's 2,500 direct members
to support Bill C-4, an act to implement the agreement between
Canada, the United States of America and the United Mexican
States, also known as CUSMA.

Before I begin, I would like to thank the efforts of the Prime
Minister, Deputy Prime Minister Freeland, chief negotiator Steve
Verheul and all of their staff for negotiating CUSMA. Being part of
the process, we at Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, or CME,
understand how difficult these negotiations were. It was crucial to
achieve a positive outcome for business and all its employees, and
we did just that. As such, CME fully supports this bill and we urge
the government and all parliamentarians to ratify CUSMA as soon
as possible.

My goal today is simple. I want to explain why free trade is im-
portant to manufacturing and how CUSMA will improve on NAF-
TA. Why is free trade so important? Simply put, North American
trade is the basis upon which Canada's manufacturing industry is
built. Our sector alone employs 1.7 million workers in every com-
munity across the country.

In 2019, we shipped $455 billion of merchandise exports to the
U.S. and Mexico. This represented 77% of our total exports to all
countries that year. Two-thirds of these exports, worth about $305
billion, were manufactured goods. The numbers simply speak for
themselves. You see, Canadian, American and Mexican manufac-
turers don't really compete with one another. Rather, we build stuff
together: a continental manufacturing ecosystem bound together by
integrated supply chains.
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North American free trade is therefore a pillar of our national
economy. It is why the manufacturing sector produces the bulk of
Canada's exports. It is how the sector can compete against the rest
of the world. This is why CUSMA, and NAFTA before it, are so
important. Without these agreements and without integrated pro-
duction with the U.S. and Mexico, we simply would not have the
scale necessary to be a global player. Canada's ability to take ad-
vantage of any other trade deal is only possible if North America
continues to manufacture together.

How does CUSMA improve on NAFTA? CUSMA preserves the
integrated manufacturing operations that allow the relative free
flow of goods and services among our three markets. Going into the
negotiations, our members made it clear to us that the primary ob-
jective of Canada must be to do no harm to this integrated manufac-
turing economy. CUSMA accomplished this.

In fact, CUSMA preserves many of the key elements of the origi-
nal NAFTA that were targets of the U.S. for elimination. This in-
cludes dispute settlement mechanisms and the business traveller
visa exemptions. This was by no means assured at the outset, but
there they are alive and well.

Importantly, CUSMA updates critical areas of NAFTA, dragging
it into the 21st century. This alone will significantly enhance North
American trade. For example, the new digital trade chapter recog-
nizes now that the Internet is a thing and establishes a framework
for e-commerce in North America. The customs administration and
free trade facilitation chapter will also go a long way in moderniz-
ing borders throughout North America, enabling the free flow of
goods.

Lastly, chapter 26, the new competitiveness chapter, has not gar-
nered a lot of attention, but it is, in our estimation, one of the
biggest accomplishments of CUSMA. Why? It sets up a framework
for three sovereign countries to become a unified trade bloc. It will
do this by promoting better coordination and integration of our
manufacturing industries so that we can tackle global trade chal-
lenges together. This is a significant accomplishment.

We have consistently urged the government to start work on im-
plementing parts of the agreement now, like chapter 26, that do not
require legal changes. We should be looking to make early progress
by establishing committees for North American competitiveness
and good regulatory practices, as outlined in the agreement. This
would show Canadian leadership, signal to our other partners that
we take CUSMA seriously and let us hit the ground running.

Once CUSMA is the law of the land, we need to pivot toward
helping manufacturers and exporters take advantage of the new
deal. The U.S. is, and will always remain, our largest export mar-
ket. We must leverage the excellent government resources like the
trade commissioner service and Export Development Canada to
help companies transition from NAFTA to CUSMA.

® (1215)

Limited access to the U.S. government procurement market is al-
so a big challenge. We encourage the government to work with the
Americans, on a bilateral basis, to open up this lucrative area for
Canadian farms. This is how government can play a positive role in
helping companies capitalize on CUSMA once it's enforced.

In the final analysis, CUSMA is a good deal for Canada, and giv-
en the very challenging negotiations, an impressive achievement.
We urge all parties to pass this bill as quickly as possible. If you do
that, I can assure you that Canadian manufacturers will return the
favour by creating prosperity for all Canadians for years to come.

Thank you, and I look forward to the discussion.
® (1220)

The Chair: Thank you all very much.

We will go on to Mr. Lewis.

Mr. Chris Lewis (Essex, CPC): Thank you very much.

Thank you to all the witnesses this morning. It's been very inter-
esting to see the various dynamics, and I thank you for that.

Good morning, Mr. Mayor. Of course, I'm coming straight to you
from Ottawa. By the way, folks, he is literally sitting in the Florida
of Canada, and I will vouch that indeed behind him is Detroit.

You're welcome for that one, Mr. Mayor. I have a couple of ques-
tions for you this morning, sir.

First and foremost, thank you for representing FCM and the big
city mayors. That's really exciting for this committee and me to see.
I've noted that the FCM and big city caucuses are enthusiastic about
the new NAFTA.

If I could be so bold to suggest it, Windsor—Essex is truly a mi-
crocosm of Canada, in that whatever Canada has to offer, quite
frankly, we pretty much have the same thing to offer, be it the auto
sector, agriculture, commercial fishing so to speak, mining, and the
list goes on and on. We are very much in a unique situation here.
We kind of have the pulse of what's going on from coast to coast to
coast.

That being said, it certainly does appear—I'm speaking specifi-
cally to CUSMA right now—to be good news for the auto sector, of
course, and it's good news for our region, both Windsor and Essex,
given the importance of the automotive sector to our region.

Let me also say that we are the party of free trade, and we cer-
tainly do not intend to hold up this agreement. However, let me also
be very clear that it's important that we do our due diligence. I don't
know if you know this, but I would hope that you do. You'd be in-
terested that despite repeated requests, we have still not received an
economic impact statement. Why is that vital? We're getting down
to crunch time. We need to make some very serious decisions, and
quite frankly, it makes it very difficult to do our due diligence with-
out that.
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One example, to illustrate the kind of data that is needed, is an
issue of significance for our region. Labour has supported the
clause that requires 40% of cars produced in Mexico be completed
by workers making at least $16 an hour, $20 Canadian. There's an
assumption that automotive manufacturing jobs will migrate north,
and that would be good news for us, of course, if that assumption
proves correct. However, because of the lack of analysis, we don't
know how many jobs are expected to be created in Canada. An eco-
nomic impact study would provide a frame of reference for us to
track those numbers.

Obviously, if the City of Windsor, as an example, were to do a
P3-type of an agreement with someone, certainly staff and council
would ensure that they knew the economic impact on the City of
Windsor.

On behalf of the FCM, has the FCM done an economic impact
statement of the new NAFTA, and does it intend to monitor the im-
pacts going forward?

Mr. Drew Dilkens: Mr. Lewis, it's nice to see you as well. [
haven't seen you since you were sworn in, so congratulations to you
and to all the members who were elected and re-elected.

To the best of my knowledge, the FCM has not conducted that
particular type of analysis. From a high level, if we looked at the
value provided to all cities by having an excellent trade deal and an
ability to make sure that goods can continue to flow.... As you
pointed out, there's no better place to look than the Windsor-Essex
area, definitely a microcosm of Canada, but certainly a leader when
it comes to the nature of trade and the reliance on trade between the
United States and Canada.

I acknowledged in my remarks that, at the end of the day, there
was no plan, no way to make this perfect. With the economic and
political environment out there, certainly I think we understood
very acutely in my conversations expressed to Deputy Prime Minis-
ter Freeland during the negotiations that there are people in the
community who are very scared about what might happen.

Certainly the consideration we have as a community—and I'm
sure FCM would echo this in many ways—is that, looking at Gen-
eral Motors' decision to close the plant in Oshawa and to reallocate
work, if I consider the prospect of that happening in my community
because there's more trade friction put into the system, the econom-
ic impact and what would happen to our local community would be
very devastating.

FCM certainly is briefed on the high-level matters here. I think
we all agree on many points, especially on the automotive front
when it comes to the regional content value being increased, with
the requirement for more North American production of steel and
aluminum as well. Overall it presents a good value proposition for
Canadians, Canadian businesses and jobs in Canada as well.

® (1225)
Mr. Chris Lewis: Thank you very much.
Mr. Mayor, very quickly, this is specific to the Gordie Howe

bridge. I know it's very exciting and has been a long time in the
works.

As you also mentioned in your opening statement, an auto part
typically passes across the border seven times.

With regard to the administration of CUSMA, do you or the
FCM foresee any issues specific to Windsor-Detroit? Being the
busiest border crossing in North America, do you have any con-
cerns about the implementation and the potential for blockages?

The Chair: Please give a short response, Mr. Mayor.

Mr. Drew Dilkens: I don't see any issue with respect to block-
ages. | think the extra capacity with the bridge will certainly mean
redundancy in the system, and all the high-tech infrastructure that's
being installed will certainly allow goods to cross much more
quickly than with the existing infrastructure.

The Chair: Mr. Arya.

Mr. Chandra Arya (Nepean, Lib.): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mayor Dilkens, I don't have any questions, but I know you're ex-
perimenting with Amazon's Ring doorbell and the Neighbours app.
I look forward to seeing how that goes.

To the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, thank you all for
your work in helping get this deal done. You said the government
has a positive role to play. The government, in association with you
and so many other Canadians, has successfully concluded this deal.

You mentioned that you expect your members to scale up and be-
come global players, based on the strength of this agreement. They
can use this agreement to increase their manufacturing capabilities
and become global players. You also said you'd like to see your
members competing with the rest of the world, with the strength of
this particular agreement.

Yesterday we had some of your major members here: the associ-
ation of steel producers and the association of aluminum producers.
Their members—the entire aluminum industry and the steel indus-
try—are focused only on the North American market.

It has been 15 years since we had a new smelter constructed here
in Canada. For 20 years, steel industry production has been holding
at around 15 million or 16 million tonnes. They are not investing to
increase the capacity to become a global player, to compete in the
rest of the world. They are content with going after this captured
market. Is it the right approach?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Without commenting on what individual
businesses of our members are doing—they're all competitors, and
certainly they have their own plans—what we're looking at in the
context of CUSMA is the fact that it will do two things, which flow
from one another. One, it will bring back certainty to the Canadian
market—
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Mr. Chandra Arya: I understand that. My question was specifi-
cally this: Do you expect your members to increase their capacity
to become global players, to compete with the rest of the world
market, based on this trend?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Yes, and that's where [ was going with
this. It is our hope that once this is a done deal, with the certainty
that this will return to the market, it will bring investment flows
back into Canada. When you have all this uncertainty and an un-
negotiated trade agreement for something as fundamental to manu-
facturing as NAFTA or CUSMA, what happens is that all the in-
vestments dollars go to the safest harbour, which in this situation is
the United States.

So our hope—

Mr. Chandra Arya: You know, we had NAFTA for very long,
and there was uncertainty for only over two years. Do you think all
the investment dollars that went to the U.S. occurred only in that
two-year frame? I'm looking at the trade between Canada and the
U.S. It has basically remained stagnant. In U.S. dollar terms, I think
in 2012 we had around $324 billion. Last year it was $319 billion.
It is not increasing.

® (1230)

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Yes. I think that speaks as well to the in-
creasing uncompetitiveness of the Canadian market for manufactur-
ers to do business in.

Mr. Chandra Arya: You talk of increasing confidence. We had
NAFTA for so long. We now have this.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Right—

Mr. Chandra Arya: I can understand that there was uncertainty
for a couple of years, but why are Canadian exports not increasing?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: There are many reasons that exports
aren't increasing. NAFTA is only a part of it. Certainly, on average,
Canadian businesses are small. They are smaller than their interna-
tional counterparts. What happens when you have so many small
businesses is that you don't have the scale and the capacity to be
able to export.

Mr. Chandra Arya: We have CUSMA, the new NAFTA, today.
We have a free trade agreement with Europe. We have a free trade
agreement with Asia-Pacific countries. With all these free trade
agreements, we still can't grow...?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Exactly. With the free trade agreement,
the analogy I would use is that you can bring the horse to the
trough, but—

Mr. Chandra Arya: What you're saying is that the manufactur-
ing sector is a sunset industry.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: No.
Mr. Chandra Arya: Then what?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Manufacturing in Canada represents a
huge part of the economy, with 1.7 million jobs. It's not going any-
where, but it could certainly—

Mr. Chandra Arya: The point is that it is not growing up. That's
what I'm trying to say.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: I'm sorry....

Mr. Chandra Arya: The manufacturing sector is not growing
up. It is growing down.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: No, it is struggling because of a number
of factors. If we can bring one element of certainty back to business
decision-making in Canada by having a free trade agreement like
CUSMA signed, because it's so fundamental, that's one step. We
have lots to do. Trust me; we could talk to you for hours about all
the competitiveness issues.

Mr. Chandra Arya: No, but we had fundamental things. We had
NAFTA for long, long years. For decades we had it. Then we
brought in the free trade agreement with the European Union. Now
we have a free trade agreement with Asia-Pacific, but look at the
steel and aluminum primary producers. They have not invested a
dollar to increase their installed capacity. They don't have any plans
to do that. They are quite open about it.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
I'm sorry, Mr. Arya, there is no opportunity for an answer to that.

Mr. Savard-Tremblay.
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: Thank you to everyone
for being here with us.

My question is for the representatives of the Assembly of First
Nations, Ms. Whiteduck and Ms. Schwartz.

First of all, let me digress for a moment. We are currently in the
midst of a crisis in which many prejudices against the First Nations
are being propagated. I want to say that this is unacceptable. I hope
that, together, we will be able to dispel them in due course. There
have been some slip-ups in this matter; we must condemn them
without qualification. All nations must speak to each other as peo-
ple to people with all due dignity.

My question is about the process surrounding the negotiations.
There is still a great deal of opacity around that, a lack of trans-
parency perhaps. You talked about the fact that first nations always
have to be consulted in the process of negotiating a trade agree-
ment.

Do you feel that you have been properly consulted on this?
[English]

Ms. Risa Schwartz: Previously, consultation was definitely not
adequate. With NAFTA and other trade agreements in the past,
there was no consultation with first nations. Consultation is proba-
bly not the best word to use. It's engagement. When we're talking
about consultation, we're talking about consultation pursuant to the
Constitution and the duty to consult not being met. What we're talk-
ing about now is engagement with national organizations such as
the Assembly of First Nations, as well as Métis and Inuit organiza-
tions and some rights holders through modern treaties.
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Certainly the government, in the past couple of years, and espe-
cially with CUSMA, has put an increased emphasis on engagement
with first nations, but there is still more work to do. Part of our pre-
sentation today is to discuss moving beyond engagement, which
happens outside of the room and happens—sometimes after deci-
sions are made and sometimes before—through an indigenous
working group.

What we're talking about is participation in the room and bring-
ing first nations to the table. If we're going to have indigenous
chapters in future trade agreements, we need to have first nation ne-
gotiators. Then we're not talking about engagement or consultation.
We're talking about participation, and participation is more in line
with the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

As the government is looking toward implementing the United
Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, we'd urge
participation in decision-making so that there's true decision-mak-
ing being done with first nations about matters that implicate and
affect their rights through their treaties and inherent rights.

® (1235)
[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: All right. Of course,
you're generally speaking on behalf of first nations, but in terms of
defining future agreements, many groups and organizations feel
that there should be more dialogue with civil society. We're talking
about consultations, but you prefer to talk about mobilization,
which I have no problem with.

Have you thought of a formula that could promote ongoing dia-
logue? I'm not talking about simply keeping communities and
groups informed of developments, but rather involving them in the
definition of these agreements.

[English]

Ms. Risa Schwartz: [ think there's a dual answer to that. The
government has also been doing stakeholder engagement, and
we've participated in that as well with other stakeholders. I think
the stakeholder engagement that the Government of Canada has
done for CUSMA has been excellent, with much more engagement
with all parts of society and many phone calls and many opportuni-
ties to give input. I'm sure some of the gentlemen at this table could
talk to that as well. There are many different opportunities there.

When we're talking about first nations, we're talking about rights
that are impacting treaties, so we need to move beyond that engage-
ment. There was certainly more engagement with the first nation
organizations and some other academics and members of the busi-
ness community who were able to participate through this indige-
nous working group.

However, no, it's not enough. The national chief has been advo-
cating quite strongly for participation in decision-making and for
being at the negotiation table, for being in the rooms where deci-
sions are being made, because that leads to better decisions and cre-
ates atmospheres for economic stability as well.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: My question is for
Mr. Herman, who is in Toronto.

With regard to the definition in the former NAFTA, you talked
about a process that does not necessarily require the treaty to be re-
opened. It's a matter of changing certain aspects by the band in or-
der to change parts of the treaty, without having to reopen the actu-
al negotiations. You mentioned an exchange of letters.

Could you tell us more about this process?
[English]
The Chair: Answer very briefly, Mr. Herman.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: In the NAFTA, there was an under-
standing that certain parts of the agreement didn't cover environ-
ment and labour, so the three governments decided they would have
an exchange of letters outside the legal framework of the agreement
to establish two commissions: one on labour and one on environ-
ment. That was agreed to by the three governments before the
NAFTA was put to their respective parliaments.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Herman.

Mr. Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

I want to start by saying thank you to everybody who has ap-
peared today and has shared their thoughts.

I want to direct my first question to our guests from the Assem-
bly of First Nations and first of all recognize that Canada is in some
extraordinary circumstances right now, I think in part because the
federal government has done a bad job of recognizing indigenous
rights and title and does not have the kind of clarity we need to be
able to move forward. Not just section 35, but also treaties and
Canada's commitment to the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples, are foundational documents for
Canada.

It seems odd. We don't normally need clauses in agreements to
say that the agreements can't override our Constitution. I'm just
wondering how we can go about ensuring that these foundational
documents really are protected and that it's clear something like a
trade agreement can't take precedence over the fundamental legal
framework and understanding between Canada and the first peo-
ples.

You have talked a bit about the addition of a non-derogation
clause to the legislation. I am curious to know how that would work
and how that interacts with article 32.5 of the agreement, which I
know only really talks about section 35 and self-governance agree-
ments. It doesn't talk about UNDRIP, and it doesn't mention treaties
either.

® (1240)

Ms. Risa Schwartz: Again, I'll answer the first part of the ques-
tion first, but thank you very much for that question.
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A lot of legislation does include non-derogation clauses. In fact, I
believe it was a few a years ago that the Senate subcommittee look-
ing at aboriginal issues recommended that all Canadian legislation
include a non-derogation clause, across the board. That hasn't been
implemented yet, but that was definitely a recommendation.

Because of article 32.5, which does in the agreement itself pro-
tect indigenous rights, it is important that it's not just CUSMA that
has this protection but also the bill, because this bill will be chang-
ing Canadian laws and also creating policies to implement CUS-
MA. As we work with the new bill, we also should be aware that it
might impact inherent or treaty rights. That's why there's the impor-
tance of having the non-derogation clause in the agreement and also
in the implementing legislation.

Some may ask why it is important that you can't override the
Constitution. You've made a comment on that, and I definitely
agree, but [ want to note that there is already a section in the bill as
it stands about water. It clarifies that nothing in the agreement
harms our “natural...water”. Whoever drafted this bill made the de-
cision that it was important to clarify that our natural water is not
impacted by the CUSMA—I agree to that as well—but there al-
ready is a clarification clause that I would say potentially isn't nec-
essary. CUSMA itself says that.

Therefore, if it is important to clarify that our water isn't going to
be impacted, it is also very important to clarify that the inherent
rights of indigenous peoples are not going to be harmed. It's similar.
You can't really say that the clause is unnecessary and then put in
another clause that is also unnecessary. I would argue that both are
necessary, for the same reason. We want to be certain that our water
is protected. We also want to be certain that section 35 rights are
protected in CUSMA but also in the implementation bill.

That is why we've brought forward this proposal.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Right on. Thank you very much.

I have a further question on that. I am curious. We know that arti-
cle 32.5 doesn't mention UNDRIP. Throughout the engagement
process, did the government tell you at any point that it was some-
thing they were asking for that the other parties refused? Do you
have anything you can share in terms of the process and what we
were advocating for, as opposed to what we don't have, maybe be-
cause our government never asked?

Ms. Risa Schwartz: Although article 32.5 doesn't specifically
mention the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples—
and certainly this is something that the Assembly of First Nations,
other indigenous groups and peoples were saying and continue to
say is very important to have integrated into the agreement—there
is, in the footnote, some language or text that allows for some flexi-
bility and I think extends the exception beyond section 35.

The footnote says, “For greater certainty, for Canada the legal
obligations include those recognized and affirmed by section 35 of
the Constitution...or those set out in self-government agreements
between”. That's the footnote that clarifies it for Canada, but the ac-
tual article talks about “legal obligations”.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: We've heard here on a couple of occasions
that there may be things that we don't have that the government

didn't ask for because they were fearful that the U.S. might get up-
set that Canada was asking for something more.

Did the government tell you at any point that they had asked for
the inclusion of UNDRIP and that it was the U.S. or Mexico that
said no?

® (1245)

Ms. Risa Schwartz: Not specifically, we didn't get into those
conversations, but I do know that the government did put forward a
draft trade and indigenous peoples chapter that did include the
United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.
There was an attempt, and that chapter ultimately wasn't accepted.
I'm not sure why. We weren't privy to that, but the government did
move forward with a proposal.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We move on to Mr. Carrie.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.
I'd like to start off with the Assembly of First Nations.
First, meegwetch. Thank you for being here.

1 was wondering if you could help the committee. We've been
trying to get information in regard to economic impact studies. [
was wondering if the government has shared any economic impact
studies with you on how it would concern indigenous people and
indigenous-owned businesses in Canada, or if you've done your
own and you're able to share that with us.

Ms. Judy Whiteduck: Briefly, we don't have an economic im-
pact study at the Assembly of First Nations related to CUSMA and
its implementation. There's definitely a need for one. The Govern-
ment of Canada has not shared one with us, either. It is work that
needs to happen and, as per some of our earlier comments, we see
that there is a certain amount of work that needs to be part of the
path forward. This would definitely be part of that.

Mr. Colin Carrie: We agree with you, and thank you very much
for that. We will be asking over and over again so that all Canadi-
ans have that material.

With the same thing, I'm going to move over to the Canadian
Manufacturers & Exporters.

First of all, thank you for all your work on this agreement, be-
cause what you said is very true. We're hearing over and over again
that having this agreement is certainly much better than not having
the agreement, so we're all committed to getting it passed and im-
plemented to give certainty to business.
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You highlighted the competitiveness chapter. I think it's chapter
26. I know with our government we were really moving towards
convergence of regulations and harmonization, and we are hearing
from your members. One of your members yesterday, for example,
mentioned how, with the buy American exemption, we had an op-
portunity to leverage with this agreement and apparently it wasn't
even brought up. With the softwood lumber agreement, we had a
manufacturer earlier, a first nations manufacturer.... Again, we have
no conclusion there.

We now have a more managed trade agreement versus competi-
tive, especially with the auto industry. Mayor Dilkens brought up
the importance of that and how the agreement is not perfect. Sadly
in Oshawa—he also brought up Oshawa—it wasn't enough to save
our assembly plant. There is a lot of concern moving forward.

We were moving towards convergence of regulations. The cur-
rent government seems to be moving into a situation where we're
having very unique Canadian regulations and costs. We've heard
even today from Mr. Blydorp about the carbon tax and the uncer-
tainty of how far that's going to be going up. Our transportation
system, just-in-time delivery....

I was wondering, Mr. Arcand, when we're talking about invest-
ment in Canada, have you done any first economic impact studies
you can share with us? Also, could you point out what in this agree-
ment would encourage a large investor such as General Motors or
Chrysler to make that investment in Canada versus the United
States?

Mr. Alan Arcand (Chief Economist, Canadian Manufactur-
ers & Exporters): Thank you for your question.

I'm sorry; we don't have any economic impact numbers we can
share with you.

To echo my colleague's comments from a few moments ago with
regard to your question about promoting investment in Canada, the
big issue to us is the uncertainty that it engendered, the fact that we
were going through this negotiating process with our largest trading
partner. The concern of our members and our main concern was to
get past this uncertainty and get CUSMA ratified.

Obviously the manufacturing sector still has challenges. Invest-
ment in manufacturing has been weak for a number of years, in-
cluding the past couple. Some of that is related to trade uncertainty.
Even if we do ratify CUSMA, there are still a number of challenges
that we need to address in manufacturing to promote investment,
but this is just one hurdle that we can remove and then we can
move on to other, bigger issues.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Thank you for that.

As 1 said, we're looking for these economic impact studies be-
cause we think they're very important. What are you doing now for
your members who are really concerned? They're happy we're mov-
ing forward with this agreement, but they're really not very hap-
py—as Mr. Blydorp was saying—that we have these unique costs
in Canada and that, instead of moving towards this North American
competitiveness bloc as you mentioned, through chapter 26, we're
signing an agreement to say there is going to be more convergence
and harmonization, but the actions of the government are the oppo-
site.

Are you making your members' voices heard with this govern-
ment? Yes, we'll get this deal done, but what about communities
like mine in Oshawa that need to have those large investments? Are
you moving these other issues forward?

® (1250)

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Yes, certainly, and you mentioned—

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. Poirier, but there's no time to answer.
Mr. Carrie took his full five minutes. Maybe you can talk to the
member a bit later on.

Mr. Colin Carrie: I'll talk to you after.

The Chair: Mr. Sarai.

Mr. Randeep Sarai (Surrey Centre, Lib.): Thank you, Madam
Chair.

I want to first correct His Worship Mayor Dilkens of Windsor.
Surrey is the largest city that borders the United States. It has a
population of 500,000-plus people, so as much as you're proud of
Windsor, we're also very proud of our city, and a lot of our trade
is—like Windsor's—heavily reliant on the U.S., whether it's our
softwood lumber, our logistics or other manufacturing. I just want-
ed to bring that to your attention.

I want to ask you though, how do you think...? You're very obvi-
ously supportive of this agreement. It promotes trade and growth in
your region. How does the certainty affect planning for the future
and for growth in your area for a city such as yours or for other bor-
der cities like my city of Surrey?

Mr. Drew Dilkens: That's a very good question, and I love the
city of Surrey as well, sir, so no disrespect to your community. It's a
great community in Canada.

From an FCM perspective, we're all about community building
and building cities and making sure that cities have the capacity to
compete, not just with other cities in Canada but really on a global
stage. I can't underscore enough, when it comes to large manufac-
turers like our largest employers Fiat Chrysler Automobiles and
Ford Motor Company, we feel very privileged that they operate
here and that they have operated in our city for a long time, but
they are competing on a global scale. At the end of the day, they're
looking at a whole variety of different factors: Some of which are
under municipal control, some of which are under provincial con-
trol and some of course are under federal authority that could either
help or hurt them. They're looking for certainty in business. They're
looking for the path of least friction to be able to build their prod-
uct—
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Mr. Randeep Sarai: I get that part. What I'm particularly asking
is, once a company has certainty and it knows it can grow and it has
16-plus years of security on a trade agreement, how does it affect
your city planning? How do you commit to your housing strate-
gies? How do you commit to development in your region? Does it
help knowing that the businesses have a relatively solid pathway
for the next decade to two decades to three decades? Does it help
you plan the growth of your city as well?

Mr. Drew Dilkens: For many businesses, including the tool, die
and mould sector here in my region, I would say absolutely it does.
Most of them are small and medium-sized enterprises, so they need
that certainty in order to be able to figure out what their expansion
plans are and what kind of capacity they'll need, and of course that
translates into what kinds of folks should be coming out of our lo-
cal community college or the University of Windsor to be able to
fill the skills mismatch that we see here. I talk to mayors across
Canada, and this is seen in every community across Canada.

There is absolutely an interplay with the certainty provided in an
agreement like this that allows us to then take away and work with
other partners in order to make sure that all the skills exist, that the
employers are here and that we can retain them, and that we can
help them grow based on the forecasting and planning that they
need to make sure that the right people are in place to satisfy their
business needs.

Mr. Randeep Sarai: Thank you.
My next question is for Ms. Whiteduck of the AFN.

I want to thank you. It's good for us to know that our government
engaged with the Assembly of First Nations and indigenous peo-
ples on this trade agreement. I hope our government and every gov-
ernment thereafter does this for any future agreements.

You said that this particular CUSMA will help and is better for
indigenous women. Can you elaborate on how it is better for in-
digenous women? I'd like to know. I have a riding that has one of
the highest urban indigenous populations, and obviously 50% of
them are women, so it would be helpful for me to know.

® (1255)

Ms. Risa Schwartz: Thank you very much for this question.
We're both going to answer it for you.

Canada has now put more emphasis on gender-based analysis, so
there is in CUSMA an emphasis also on women and making CUS-
MA more accessible for women. That, and the provisions for in-
digenous peoples, we feel, will specifically focus on more indige-
nous women. As well, there is as an emphasis on digital trade. The
truth about businesses over the Internet is that you can't see who
you are dealing with. Where women are really succeeding is online,
where they're able to create businesses and not have to deal with
some of the problems that have been inherent for females in busi-
ness in the past. Many indigenous women are selling goods and ser-
vices online. That's a way.

Mr. Randeep Sarai: Thank you.
The Chair: Mr. Kram.

Mr. Michael Kram: Thank you to all of the witnesses for join-
ing us here today.

Mr. Blydorp, I'm from Saskatchewan, so when I think of canola
farmers and soybean farmers, I tend to think of my home province.
It's nice to meet someone in that line of work from a different part
of the country.

I wonder if you could comment a bit on the importance of the
growing Chinese market for canola producers and soybean produc-
ers such as yourself.

Mr. Leo Blydorp: It's been a very big market and purchases of
soybeans and canola have been increasing yearly up until the last
year or two. They've had a major epidemic with African swine
fever, which decimated their hog herds, so their requirement for
protein and the other grains was diminished because of that. How-
ever, as a result, there was more pork being exported back to China.
Hopefully they'll be able to get ahead of that swine fever and re-
sume their own pork production, as much as I'd like to see it pro-
duced here, because these farmers buy grains and oilseeds from us,
too. We see that hopefully growing, if we can resolve some of these
other trade issues.

But, yes, the biggest market of our Canadian canola is China—or
has been China.

Mr. Michael Kram: There's a clause in the new NAFTA agree-
ment that requires Canada to notify the United States if we are to
enter into free trade talks with a non-market economy country. The
United States can remove themselves from the new agreement if we
were to enter into a free trade agreement with a non-market econo-
my country such as China. I was wondering if you could comment
a bit about what effects that may have on Canadian exports of
canola to China if that were to happen or take place.

Mr. Leo Blydorp: It would be a big red flag, especially for
farmers from the west. We only grow 50,000 acres of canola, and [
think there's about 20 million acres of canola out west, so it would
have much greater impact there. As I said, China has been the
biggest buyer of canola and now that market's dried up a bit. Euro-
pean rapeseed production is down a little, so some more of our
canola was going there. Some of our canola is actually being pro-
cessed here and they're buying more of the processed product,
which is probably good for Canada. Hopefully we get these issues
resolved and we'll be on the same trajectory of increased growth
going forward.

Canola is a small crop in parts of the northwest United States.
Why would it even concern them that we sign some kind of an
agreement with a commodity that's not of great interest to them, or
has marginal impact on what they're doing? I understand that, yes,
they could do something if they chose to do something; and hope-
fully they won't.

Mr. Michael Kram: Thank you.

My next question is for Mr. Poirier and Mr. Arcand from the
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.
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You've both talked a bit about the struggles that your industry is
facing for a number of reasons and that you have a number of chal-
lenges that need to be addressed. Could you expand a little on what
challenges your industry is facing and what the Government of
Canada can do to help?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Certainly. What we're here about today is
trade certainty, so for manufacturers who are also the bulk of ex-
porters, it's about securing the most important trade deal in our ar-
senal, and CUSMA is priority number one. Getting that done as
soon as possible is the best thing. What we hope to see from that is
an improvement in the investment flows.

Like I mentioned earlier, what concerns us is that when there's
such trade uncertainty, especially with our key market like the U.S.,
those trade flows gravitate toward the safest harbour, which is the
United States. It's very concerning for us as the industry associa-
tion, because once that money and that investment goes out of
Canada, it doesn't come back. When you're talking about the eco-
nomic impact of the industry and the number of jobs tied to it, it's
very concerning.

® (1300)

Mr. Michael Kram: Once these trade uncertainties are resolved,
hopefully in the near future, what would be the next major hurdles
to provide certainty in your industry to keep us competitive with
the United States, such as electricity costs, infrastructure, taxes or
anything?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Its all of the above.

Generally speaking, competitiveness is our issue. It's the basic
cost of doing business—tax structures, investment supports, all

these types of things. How do we incent the majority of our small
companies to become big companies and global champions?

These are issues we're seized with and we're focused on, and that
ranges from a whole suite of government assistance but also from
the federal and provincial levels as well. It's working in concert to
create an environment in Canada where it can be competitive, and
there's lots of ground to cover there, to catch up to our global—

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll move on to Ms. Bendayan.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you very much.

I'd be happy to continue the discussion with Mr. Poirier. I read
that 10 out of the 11 CME recommendations were adopted. Is that
accurate?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: In the current deal...?

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Yes.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Yes.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: That's very impressive.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: We were very pleased.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I can imagine.

As to the consultations and the process by which you provided

those recommendations, I imagine that you were also pleased with
that process. Do you feel as if you were consulted and heard?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Certainly, it helped that I and my co-pan-
elists had a seat at the table for those discussions. Because we're so
dependent on NAFTA, it was important for us to be part of those
discussions.

As for how the process went, it was terrifying going through it,
simply because we weren't necessarily bargaining with people who
wanted the same outcomes we did—that is, achieving a solid free-
market, free trade agreement. Given that we were on the defensive
from the get-go and trying to retain the basic access we had under
NAFTA, I think where we ended up was very positive.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: That's wonderful. Thank you very much.

Mr. Herman, I would be happy to ask you a question as part of
today's committee. I know you, by reputation. Prior to being elect-
ed, I too was a lawyer in private practice in trade and arbitration
law. It's a pleasure to speak with you today.

I listened to your testimony with a lot of interest. As you men-
tioned, there are some possibilities of negative scenarios, as I be-
lieve you called them. Under those scenarios, if I understand cor-
rectly, it is your opinion that the United States and Mexico would
go ahead with the implementation of CUSMA without Canada.

Is that correct?

Mr. Lawrence Herman: That's my sense of what would happen,
yes.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Also, there would be significant uncer-
tainty then as to the applicability to Canada of the pre-existing
NAFTA agreement.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: Technically, the NAFTA would remain
in force as between the United States and Canada. This is what we
think, but it's not entirely certain.

What would happen in that event is that the United States could
decide to withdraw from the NAFTA. We know that the President
has condemned the NAFTA as one of the worst agreements the
United States has ever entered into. If Canada could not or refused
to ratify the new agreement, bringing the the NAFTA back into
force, would the United States maintain the NAFTA? I think that is
in some doubt.

Whatever happens, there would be tremendous uncertainty. How
you would reconcile the NAFTA, if it did continue, with the CUS-
MA or the USMCA, as it would be, would be highly problematic.

® (1305)

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: I see. Because of the current stage we
are in, as you mentioned in your testimony, with the United States
and Mexico having already ratified it, our options are limited. Basi-
cally, the question to the committee is whether we proceed with our
ratification or not.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: That is correct.
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Because the new agreement has gone through the ratification
processes in both Mexico and the United States, it becomes very
difficult for Canada to refuse ratification or to go back to those oth-
er two parties and ask for something more in order to secure ratifi-
cation. As I mentioned earlier, in the case of NAFTA, we agreed to
side letters with Mexico and the United States, but that was before
the agreement was put to their respective legislatures.

Frankly, in my view, now that the new agreement has gone
through Congress with all of the difficulties it had, it would be im-
possible for the United States to go through that process again or
for Canada to think that we could get something more by putting it
back to the United States.

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: Thank you for your testimony.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Bendayan.

We'll move on to Mr. Savard-Tremblay for two and a half min-
utes.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: I would like to continue
this discussion with Mr. Herman on the exchange-of-letters proce-
dure. It's interesting that you mention it, because so far, in our dis-
cussions, very few scenarios have been mentioned about ways of
amending, modifying or clarifying things after the agreement has
been signed. You mentioned letters that were exchanged before the
agreement was ratified by the various parliaments. On the other
hand, some 20 changes were made, which are not considered
amendments because an exchange of letters is generally considered
a way of clarifying things that are not clear.

There is also the NAFTA Free Trade Commission, which allows
for formal amendments to an agreement. Sixteen amendments were
made in the first 15 years of NAFTA.

To your knowledge, will it still be possible to make such changes
to CUSMA after ratification?

[English]

Mr. Lawrence Herman: I think that the Free Trade Commission
could issue agreed interpretation rulings. The commission itself
could not amend the agreement. The agreement can only be amend-
ed by the three parties and their respective legislatures.

However, where it is a matter of interpretation or application of
the terms of the agreement itself, the commission could issue cer-
tain interpretation bulletins. In fact, the new commission could be
an important part of the unfolding of the CUSMA. It will obviously
depend on goodwill and good faith by the parties to make the com-
mission work. I'm glad you mentioned this. The commission pro-
cess could be an important feature of the CUSMA going forward.
There's no question about that.

[Translation]

Mr. Simon-Pierre Savard-Tremblay: The commission has al-
ready been used, for example, to make definitions clearer or to
amend the rules of origin. In some cases, the rules of origin have
been tightened in this way. There have already been cases where
the list of products covered by the agreement has been amended,
and procedures at common borders have been harmonised.

Lastly, the commission goes beyond mere interpretation. Is that
the case?

[English]
The Chair: We have time for a short answer, Mr. Herman.

Mr. Lawrence Herman: Where there is a lack of clarity in the
terms of the agreement, the commission can issue clarification bul-
letins or adjustments, but the commission does not have the power
to actually amend the agreement itself. Where administrative mat-
ters need some clarification, the commission would play an impor-
tant role, but I have to emphasize that it depends on good faith with
the parties to make the commission process work.

® (1310)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll move on to Mr. Blaikie for two and a half minutes.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

Mr. Blydorp, I just wanted to come back to a comment you made
earlier about pricing and the prices of your goods being set in a
Chicago market. Often when we talk about trade deals, there's a
tension between export-based agricultural producers and supply-
managed agricultural producers. We often hear that we need to
make concessions on supply management in order to expand our
export markets.

I've heard—not just from you but from pork producers as well,
and others—that despite increased market access there are often
problems, either with getting product to these new markets or that
the increased demand of those added markets doesn't increase the
price because the prices are tied to what's going on in the U.S., irre-
spective of access to market in other countries.

I'd like for you to expand on that a little more. If we're making
concessions for our supply-managed producers to increase the
prospects of business for our exporters, how do we get to a point
where the increased demand can actually issue better prices for
Canadian agricultural products that are being exported?

Mr. Leo Blydorp: A lot of it is sort of the base commodities, so
they're not that differentiable, but there are certain markets that
might buy a specific type of raised pork, for instance. There are
some differentiations in the marketplace for various buyers who
want certain animals produced in a certain way, so that might open
something up.

There are some slight differences in what's allowed in animal
production here in Canada versus the U.S. in terms of drugs. I'm
not a livestock farmer, so I don't know a whole lot about that. How-
ever, | do know that occasionally there could be certain markets
that are available to Canadian producers because they are generally
smaller and they can produce to a specific requirement that some
specific market might have.
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Yes, most of the other commodities like pork and beef—particu-
larly beef out west—and the grains and oilseeds are very reliant on
trade. If we didn't have trade, we'd have half the agricultural indus-
try that we have in Canada. There was the Barton report a little
while ago that saw agriculture as one of the greatest prospects for
enhanced growth, and there's a lot of manufacturing that goes on
with agricultural products. There are, I think, 2.3 million people
employed in the agricultural sector, and most of that is beyond the
farm gate.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: However, the product pricing is tied to U.S.
indices, irrespective of what the international demand is. I mean,
obviously, international demand plays a role in establishing those
prices, but if Canadian producers have better market access, that
doesn't mean that they're going to get a better price for their product
because they're tied to what the U.S. price is.

I realize that it's going to differ based on the commodity, but is
that generally true for your business or...?

The Chair: I would need to have a very short answer.

Mr. Leo Blydorp: We're producing commodities and we have
some benefit. That's reflected in a basis that is the difference be-
tween the Chicago price and the local price. Because we are closer
to ports than somebody in North Dakota, we will have a slightly
better price because we have a transportation advantage.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll move on to Mr. Hoback and Mr. Badawey.

Mr. Randy Hoback (Prince Albert, CPC): Thank you, Madam
Chair. I just have a couple of quick questions and maybe a quick
comment.

I know that there have been a lot of people saying that we need
to get this done relatively quickly, and we agree. We're not doing
anything to stall or delay this at all. One of the concerns I have is
this: As we talked to different associations and groups, we asked
for the economic analysis or how they came to the conclusion that
we should move forward with this agreement, and they all said that
they haven't done it. That's a little concerning.

If I were to enter any type of agreement with a company, if |
were to go into a partnership with another company, the first thing I
would do is an economic analysis. You know, I get it. We have the
history as our economic analysis to a certain point, which is fair,
but this is totally different. I'm a little concerned about that, but I
am comfortable in knowing that this analysis is going to be coming
in front of this committee relatively shortly. You will have a chance
to see that before this actually goes through clause-by-clause, so
we're excited about that.

We didn't talk about how this agreement worked for competitive-
ness, and that was the function that I thought we really missed in
going forward in this agreement. We didn't have a focus on what
we could do to make North America a really strong, dynamic trad-
ing-partnership bloc. Was this in the agreement? Do you see any-
thing in there that gives us some hope that this might do that?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: The new chapter 26 holds promise for us,
just in the sense that it's going to try to coordinate all industry activ-
ity across these three countries in order to become more competi-
tive. Our hope is that we don't lose sight of it and that it doesn't fall

apart in implementation, which is why we're very gung-ho to get
started on it and to set up the committee, and for us in Canada to
show initiative on this.
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Mr. Randy Hoback: What do you see to set that part up? I
haven't seen anything in budgets. I haven't seen any allocation of
resources from the government to do that. What do you think you
need for the appropriate resources from the government to get that
started?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: The chapter itself is pretty thin—I think
it's a page long in total—so there's not a lot of guidance there from
the agreement itself, but obviously—

Mr. Randy Hoback: That could be good or bad. It could be
good because you could write it the way you want.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: It could give us a lot of creative room,
true. Essentially, it's setting up committees between the three coun-
tries. We don't see any reason why we have to wait to do that. If it's
just setting up a committee, Canada should show leadership and
work with its American and Mexican partners.

Mr. Randy Hoback: Do you have any definition of who's in-
cluded on the committees? For example, we're learning that we
need to include first nations in a lot more of the processes moving
forward.

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Absolutely.

Mr. Randy Hoback: Because of the different dynamics within
the first nations communities, too, how do we decide among first
nations as to who sits on that committee?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: We'd be happy to leave the committee
makeup to government, but I agree that the more voices at the table,
the better. Clearly, the ones with the biggest stake in the game
should be there, but any other people similar to those included in
the original consultations we'd more than welcome and encourage.

Mr. Randy Hoback: 1 have frustrations with committees.
They're great if they have action, but I don't see how that committee
now.... We're going to form it, but then I don't see the action coming
back into the governments saying, “You need to do x, y and z this
year. Then next year you have to do x, y and z differently.”

Do you see what I'm saying? You're going to have all these ideas
to make us more competitive, but if it falls on deaf ears and there's
no action, what good is it as a committee?

Mr. Matthew Poirier: Exactly. It can't be like the last go-around
and the initial NAFTA, where there was a whole bunch of these
sorts of similar things that fell by the wayside after a few months
and years. That's our fear as well because we see so much promise
in that chapter 26 on competitiveness. We can talk about whatever
mechanism we can give it to give it teeth and to give it oomph so it
does have an impact.

We also need willing partners in the other countries, which might
be a challenge at this time. We really do see that turning NAFTA
into a tool to create this more integrated North American trading
bloc, especially for manufacturing, is a win-win.
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Mr. Randy Hoback: Leo, [ have a quick question for you.

One of my concerns is the non-tariff trade barriers that we're see-
ing against our agriculture producers around the world and our in-
ability to react. For example, with Italy and durum, there was no re-
sponse to WTO. With India and pulses, there was no response to
WTO.

Is there something you see in this agreement that is going to tell
our government when we see things like this happening that they
actually have to do something to defend our producers?

Mr. Leo Blydorp: I haven't read the whole agreement, but I un-
derstand there's supposed to be some kind of dispute negotiation
settlement process. I don't know what that is, but I'm surprised that
nothing was initiated with this last round of support for, especially,
soybeans in the U.S. in 2018. I haven't heard anything. Maybe
something has transpired.

Mr. Randy Hoback: It's just crickets.

Mr. Leo Blydorp: That's an ongoing thing for us as farmers.
There have been lots of actions by the U.S. launched against Cana-
dian farmers over the years. Some of them went to WTO. Many of
them weren't successful, but it does really affect farmers in the pro-
cess for a long time until that's settled. They're really negatively im-
pacted.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Badawey.
Mr. Vance Badawey: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Once again, I want to take this opportunity to thank you for al-
lowing me to sit today on this committee. As most members know,
I am the chair of the transportation, infrastructure and communities
committee. One of the reasons I felt it was very important to be
here today was to in fact speak about the crossing of committees
that this issue does, especially with respect to the strategic invest-
ments in infrastructure.

The second comment I want to make before I ask a question is
on the expectation. I think Mr. Herman hit it right on the head when
he stated that we're moving forward. NAFTA, or CUSMA as we
know it now, is something that's been negotiated by three countries.
It's time to turn a page, move forward and look at the future of all
three countries working closer together, and more importantly, to
really look at the integration of our infrastructure investments, es-
pecially when it comes to transportation, whether it be rail, road, air
or water.

The third thing I want to say is how imperative it is that those
investments work toward strengthening our overall international
trade performance.

With that all said, and moving forward with those investments, I
want to ask a question to the mayor of Windsor.

Mr. Mayor, I'm a former mayor myself, just down the lake from
you in the Niagara area. I can relate 100% with what you're doing
on a daily basis with respect to being a border community, and of
course the niches that are attached to your area—your area being
auto and our area being steel, and other. With not only your mayor's
hat on but also the hat of what you represent, the Federation of

Canadian Municipalities, do you see and will you see strategic in-
vestments playing a major factor in strengthening our overall global
performance in terms of trade? Do you see those investments being
critical?

Lastly, what investments do you see being made in an integrated
fashion with our U.S. partners to once again strengthen our interna-
tional trade performance?
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Mr. Drew Dilkens: I'll reiterate and go back to one of the com-
ments | made in my remarks related to the Gordie Howe bridge.
This will be approximately a $6-billion project, which taps into the
Herb Gray parkway, which is a multi-billion dollar project to con-
nect the 401 to this crossing. It will be the most efficient border
crossing between Canada and the United States. It will have the
highest and latest technology, and will allow, for communities close
to the border, whether it's the city of Windsor, elsewhere in Essex,
or all the way down the corridor, down the 401.... It's really the
backbone.

We are the backbone of what we call the “NAFTA superhigh-
way”, all the way from Montreal down to Mexico. All municipali-
ties that are part of that spine, that backbone, will benefit with the
proper infrastructure in place. Having a redundant border crossing,
having a border crossing that is the most resilient and has the most
technology between Canada and the United States, located right
here is a very positive sign. There's been work done since about the
year 2000 or 2001. You will see in a few short months the support
pillars for the bridge coming out of the ground. I think all signs are
very positive.

It's not been an easy task, but it's happening. I think everyone in
Canada serves to benefit who lives in a community along that back-
bone.

Mr. Vance Badawey: Thank you, Mr. Mayor.

1 will be going into my committee in a few hours, and one of the
motions that the committee will be considering is a study focusing
on current and anticipated labour shortages in the Canadian trans-
portation sector. We're looking at undertaking a study on Canada's
rural digital infrastructure, prospective solutions to the gaps in
wireless infrastructure deployment in Canada, and finally—and I
guess to your wheelhouse—is a study on the gas tax fund, in partic-
ular as it relates to working with municipalities, indigenous com-
munities and others, to further your interests, your niches in differ-
ent regions, and to in fact make those strategic infrastructure invest-
ments.

Again, with the auto sector being a niche in Windsor, what are
the positive effects now with this agreement, not only this agree-
ment, but also aligning with CETA and the CPTPP? What are some
of the advantages you're going to see for Windsor, in your area, but
as well, some of those infrastructure investments that would help
further your interests with respect to being a stronger trading part-
ner?

Mr. Drew Dilkens: On behalf of FCM, let me reiterate our ap-
preciation. All cities across Canada are appreciative of the doubling
of the gas tax. It has been a crucial mechanism for municipalities to
reinvest in transit systems and mobility solutions.
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When I look at my own community—if I drove that down to my
own community—Ilooking at the infrastructure we have here, one of
the pieces of border infrastructure I mentioned was the Windsor-
Detroit Tunnel. The City of Detroit owns their half and the City of
Windsor owns our half, and we run that operation as one unit.

We're looking to the future with respect to some of the things you
mentioned about wireless technology and the future of electrifica-
tion or new energy vehicles and how we could get more into the au-
tonomous vehicle world. There have been investments by all three
levels of government in the city of Windsor to help support that—
using our tunnel asset, our infrastructure here—and to help deal
with the things that are unique to Windsor.

You talked about testing autonomous vehicles. You could pretty
much do that in any city across North America—there are so many
similarities—but the one thing that is distinct for us here is that we
can test it in a live border environment on an asset that we own
with a partner in the United States, which we work very closely
with on a daily basis.

We're using our [Technical difficulty—Editor] to help advance
the interests of our region and keep us in that new mobility world
that is here and that is coming very quickly.

® (1325)
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Mayor.

Mr. Dhaliwal.
Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Thank you.

Thank you to all the presenters for coming out today.

My first question is for the Assembly of First Nations. I'm glad
to hear from you that this is the most inclusive agreement we have
had in Canadian history when it comes particularly to indigenous
women and young entrepreneurs doing well.

Could you tell me what you as the first nations' representative
will do to bring awareness, and what government should do so that
the indigenous women and young people can take advantage of this
agreement?

Ms. Judy Whiteduck: One of the forums that we have in place
right now includes the chiefs in assembly, where all the leaders
have the opportunity to come together to discuss the new and dif-
ferent things that are happening across the country, as well as new
initiatives that are in place. That information is then shared
amongst the first nation citizenry. That would definitely be one op-
portunity.

Plus, we have a network of committees, such as the chiefs' com-
mittee on economic development, which brings together leaders
from each of the first nation regions across the country. We have
technical networks to help share the information, and a reach to
some of those organizations that are technical in nature, which also
have access to opportunities, email lists and whatnot.

However, we know that there needs to be, again, some work that
has to happen to share that information. Right now, there are not
enough programs in place to support the trade awareness building,
specifically for first nations, including women, youth and all por-
tions of the economic sectors we are looking to participate in.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Thank you.

My next question goes to Mr. Herman. You were talking about
the election of 1988. In any way, directly or indirectly, were you
suggesting that the opposition not block this so that there is an elec-
tion tomorrow and the Liberals come back in the majority?

Mr. Lawrence Herman: [ was not making partisan comments. [
was simply repeating the historical record and mentioning that it
would be unprecedented for Parliament to refuse to ratify a trade
agreement. It has never happened before in our history. In 1988, be-
fore the legislation was put to Parliament, there was an election,
which clarified the issue, and Parliament then proceeded to enact
the necessary legislation approving the original free trade agree-
ment.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: How important is it to get this agreement
passed as it is now, today rather than tomorrow?

Mr. Lawrence Herman: It is critically important for Canada.
The longer we delay in ratifying the agreement, the worse it is. |
think Canada has to move ahead. Having negotiated and signed an
agreement, in my humble view, it is incumbent on this House and
this committee to give the agreement its full approval, and the im-
plementing legislation should be reported out positively.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Your Worship Mayor Dilkens, do you agree
with Mr. Herman that it should go right away and it will help mu-
nicipalities to grow?

The Chair: That question was to Mayor Dilkens.
[Technical difficulty—Editor]

Mr. Chris Lewis: I think his answer was no.

Voices: Oh, oh!

The Chair: Mayor Dilkens, did you hear the question from Mr.
Dhaliwal?

Mr. Drew Dilkens: I did. Can you hear me now?
The Chair: Yes, we can.

Mr. Drew Dilkens: I said absolutely it should pass right away
without delay. Let the inertia carry it over the finish line.

® (1330)
The Chair: Thank you very much.

I don't think any of us are looking for an election at all—not in
the near future, for sure.

Thank you to all our witnesses. We very much appreciated all of
your support and your comments back. It's valuable information for
the committee.

Mr. Hoback.

Mr. Randy Hoback: I just have a question about the process
with the clerk and analysts. Written submissions are coming in to
the committee, so I'm just curious as to when the final submission
date is. Also, when will we have access to those written submis-
sions, and how are you going to put them together into the final
conclusion?

The Chair: I think the clerk needs to answer that.
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The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Christine Lafrance): As
they come in, they are sent to translation. As soon as they are trans-
lated, they are distributed to the members. Because it's a bill, there's
no briefing note as is usually done by the analyst. We just go direct-
ly to clause-by-clause.

Mr. Randy Hoback: It goes to translation and then after transla-
tion we'll get a copy. Is that what you're saying?

The Clerk: You will get copies as soon as the translation is out.

Mr. Randy Hoback: Translation understands the importance of
getting this done in a timely fashion. Is that right?

The Clerk: Yes, they're doing their best.

The deadline hasn't been set by the committee, but what I write
to the people is that they should get their brief in as soon as possi-
ble because clause-by-clause is scheduled for probably next Thurs-
day.

Mr. Randy Hoback: We've all agreed that we're going to have
the economic analysis before the committee, so I'm just curious. Do
you have a date lined up for the presentation and when we'll actual-
ly receive those documents? Do you have any indication on that,
maybe through the parliamentary secretary...?

The Chair: The clerk has been in touch with that particular indi-
vidual, who was....

The Clerk: I haven't received anything from the department yet
as far as the document is concerned, but we are in contact to sched-
ule Ms. Paquet.

Mr. Sukh Dhaliwal: Can we thank the witnesses first?
Mr. Randy Hoback: We're pretty well done here.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Would we be able to get an update from the
parliamentary secretary, because it was a unanimous motion?

The Chair: I think it's the clerk who's carrying that on. Can you
respond to that?

Ms. Rachel Bendayan: It was certainly a unanimous motion. I'd
be happy to get back to the committee with an update.

Mr. Colin Carrie: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you again to all of the wonderful witnesses.

The meeting is adjourned.
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